Lindenwood University

Digital Commons@Lindenwood University

Dissertations

Theses & Dissertations

Spring 4-2012

Factors Influencing the College Choice of Music Majors Attending a Four Year Institution: A Comparative Study

Ryan Curtis Lindenwood University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.lindenwood.edu/dissertations



Part of the Educational Assessment, Evaluation, and Research Commons

Recommended Citation

Curtis, Ryan, "Factors Influencing the College Choice of Music Majors Attending a Four Year Institution: A Comparative Study" (2012). Dissertations. 494.

https://digitalcommons.lindenwood.edu/dissertations/494

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Theses & Dissertations at Digital Commons@Lindenwood University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons@Lindenwood University. For more information, please contact phuffman@lindenwood.edu.

Factors Influencing the College Choice of Music Majors Attending a Four Year Institution:

A Comparative Study

by

Ryan Curtis

A Dissertation submitted to the Education Faculty of Lindenwood University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education

School of Education

Factors Influencing the College Choice of Music Majors

Attending a Four Year Institution:

A Comparative Study

bу

Ryan Curtis

This dissertation has been approved as partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

degree of

Doctor of Education

at Lindenwood University by the School of Education

Dr. Lynda Leavitt, Dissertation Chair

Dr. Deb Ayres, Committee Member

Dr. Graham Weir, Committee Member

(

Date

Declaration of Originality

I do hereby declare and attest to the fact that this is an original study based solely upon my own scholarly work here at Lindenwood University and that I have not submitted it for any other college or university course or degree here or elsewhere.

Full Legal Name: Ryan C. Curtis

Acknowledgements

The completion of this dissertation would not have been possible without the guidance and leadership from my dissertation chair, Dr. Lynda Leavitt, my committee members, Dr. Graham Weir and Dr. Deb Ayres, and my go to statistician Dr. Sherrie Wisdom. I would never have been able to complete this project without your help.

I would also like to thank the participating students and faculty at the researched institutions for allowing me to come into your classrooms to conduct my research and for your added patience participating in the follow up interview.

Also to my parents, Ron, Donna, and John, my siblings Derek, Steff, and Nick, Thank you. You all made me who I am today by supporting me and encouraging me with your best wishes.

Finally, I would like to thank my wife, Kim and children, Brendan and Kailyn. Without their support, I would never have started this process. I am truly grateful for their patience and giving of their time to allow me to do this.

Abstract

Factors Influencing the College Choice of Music Majors Attending a Four Year Institution

The purpose of this research sought to investigate and compare the factors influencing the college choice of music majors attending four-year private and four-year public universities. A comparison of college choice data among four universities was completed in the following areas: academic, institutional, financial, and personal/social. These influences leading to college choice are based on the study of real-life decisionmaking (Galotti, 1995) and the factors which influence the music majors choice of institution (Locke, 1982). The four main factors deemed important in college choice, surveyed through a 31 question survey and a follow up interview, focused on which of these factors guided students majoring in music to attend their chosen university and which factors were given more weight in the decision process. The survey and interviews also set out to discern if gender or grade point average bare any influence in the college choice of music majors. This study found, based on the four attributes surveyed, financial factors had the greatest influence on music majors actually enrolling in a specific institution followed by institutional, academic, and personal/social attributes in that order. Gender and GPA did not appear to influence college choice nor did social networking between university and student. Scholarship was determined to be the single highest student rated component influencing college choice of music majors.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	i
Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iii
List of Tables.	vi
Chapter One: Introduction	1
Background of the Study	2
Purpose of Study	3
Research Questions and Hypotheses	5
Definition of Terms	9
Limitations	
Conclusion	
Chapter Two: Literature Review	12
College Choice Phases	12
First Phase.	14
Second Phase.	16
Third Phase.	
Choice Models	20
Factors Influencing Choice	21
Academic.	22
Institutional	23
Financial	24

Personal/Social	27
Marketing	28
Online	31
Face-to-Face Interactions.	33
High Ability Students	35
Music Involvment and High Ability Students.	37
Music Majors.	39
Music Major Influences.	39
Summary.	42
Chapter Three: Methodology	45
Overview	45
Population	46
Sample	47
Development of Instrument	48
Research Questions and Hypotheses	50
Data Collection	53
Data Analysis	54
Demographics	56
Survey Distribution	57
Interview Procedures	58
Human Subjects	58
Summary	59
Chapter Four: Data	60

Background	60
Survey Results	60
Difference in Proportion of Agreement	66
Research Question Explanation and Analysis	68
Interview Questions and Responses	76
Summary	84
Chapter Five: Discussion and Recommendations	85
Overview	85
Discussion	86
Academic	86
Institutional	91
Financial	93
Personal/Social	95
Further Research	99
Summary	104
References	107
Appendix A: Survey	118
Appendix B: Information Letter	122
Appendix C: Interview Questions	123
Vitae	124

List of Tables

1.	Three Phase Model of College Choice	. 19
2.	Preferred Information Sources by College Attribute	. 34
3.	University Attributes and Survey Distribution	. 47
4.	Survey Respondents by Demographic Information	. 56
5.	Interview Respondents by Demographic Information.	58
6.	Weighted Mean Score	. 61
7.	Public University 1 Proportions	. 62
8.	Public University 2 Proportions	. 63
9.	Private University 1 Proportions	. 64
10.	Private University 2 Proportions	. 65
11.	Public vs. Private z-test for Difference of Proportions in Agreement	. 67
12.	Student GPA Private vs. Public	. 75
13.	Total Averaged Likert Responses by Gender	. 75
14.	Summarized Results to Interview Questions	. 76
15.	Chi-Square Results	. 77
16.	Public vs. Private University z-test for Proportion Based on Size	102

Chapter One: Introduction

Several studies documented the efforts of researchers in the field of college choice (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000; Chapman, 1981; Galotti, 1995; Galotti & Mark, 1994), but few studies have narrowed the focus group to include music majors as the primary sample (Locke, 1982). The researcher was unable to find previous studies that mentioned the possible influence of social media (e.g. twitter and Facebook) as an influential factor in the college choice process due to the relative newness of those technologies. Due to the lack of literature related to the college choice process of music majors, and the added benefit as a professor of music at a four-year institution, this research sought to establish the choice factors music majors undertake when choosing a higher education institution.

There are many options and great implications for high school seniors when selecting which college to attend (Galotti & Mark, 1994). Where the student will attend college in relation to their home or how many loans are required are just a few of the variables that factor into the college choice decision (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000; Chapman, 1981; Litten, 1991). Students confront the time and expense associated with investigating possible college choices spending upwards of 50 hours and \$1,500 preparing their search (Litten, 1991). The factors influencing a music major's choice of institution, and the goals and objectives he or she desires from their chosen institution, guided this research into the college choice of music majors.

The researcher chose this topic due to the importance of the subject to the researcher and the possible benefits to the students and institutions involved via enhanced recruitment through a better understanding of the college choice process, and/or a greater student understanding of the college attributes within the university. The college choice

of most high school students, wishing to attend a university/college, typically occurs on a well-defined timeline (Galotti, 1995). Few life decisions of this magnitude occur through such an organized process, predictable time-period, and support various forms of data gathering and development (Galotti, 1995; Galotti & Mark, 1994).

Background of the Study

Many universities consider enrollment to be a key goal for their institution (Filter, 2010). Institutions create internal divisions devoted to recruitment, enrollment, and retention to maintain or increase these goals (Filter, 2010). Universities spend hours and money searching for students with the aim of attracting them to their campus (Kelly, 1988). Before effective recruiting can take place, administrators and faculty must understand the process of student choice (Kelly, 1988). Many institutions use the strengths of the student body as a marketing method to demonstrate and promote the quality of the institution and attract other interested students (Filter, 2010). While specific groups of students within a university may bring a level of status to the university such as athletic teams, artistic, or academic populations, universities that try to recruit and enroll these students require a better understanding of the factors influencing the college choice process (Hossler, 1984).

While similar studies conducted by Drewes and Michael (2006) and Hodges and Barbuto (2002) focused on various populations of interest based on socioeconomic status, academic achievement, or race, this study aimed to provide a perspective from the music major. The basis for this study stemmed from previous research findings suggesting 34 criteria within four main areas of interest which might possibly influence the college choice of general student populations (Galotti, 1995; Galotti & Mark, 1994). The

previous research which guide this study focus on academic (e.g. challenge, requirements, course offerings, faculty quality, majors offered), institutional (e.g. appearance, class size, facilities, location), financial (e.g. cost, financial aid), and personal/social factors (e.g. distance from home, parents' advice, friends at school) as guiding influences of college choice (Galotti, 1995; Galotti & Mark, 1994; Locke, 1982). This study included those previous attributes but also included the possible influences of social networking on the music majors' college choice due to the popularity of this media and the lack of studies involving social media and the college choice of the music major.

Purpose of Study

Recruitment and the college choice of music majors is an important concept to many researchers (Kelly, 1988; Lindeman, 2004; Locke, 1982; Longley, 1999; Overmier, 2003, Shropshire, 2007; Waggoner, 1978), and very few studies focus on the factors which influence the college choice of specific music major populations compared to the literature on overall student choice. The purpose of this study was to gain a better understanding of the factors influencing the college choice of music majors through a mixed method study using the tools of survey and interview. This research analyzed data from a survey containing a mixture of Likert responses and open questions distributed to freshmen music majors at four-year public and private universities as well as a follow up interview to those students amenable.

The study of college choice is one with many possible directions. While some researchers study the process of how students choose a university, other studies focus on the recruiting or marketing efforts (Chapman, 1981; Chapman & Jackson, 1987; Hanson & Litten, 1982; Hodges & Barbuto, 2002; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987; Hossler, Braxton,

& Coopersmith, 1989; Kelly, 1988). The objective of this study was to gain a better understanding of the factors influencing the college choice of music majors and a comparison of those factors that lead to final enrollment. The researchers chose to focus on four main factors (Academic, Institutional, Personal/Social, and Financial) deemed important in the college choice process and the importance that each factor weighs in the college choice of music majors. These factors were chosen specifically based on interview and survey questions by Galotti (1995), which identified the above attributes as the four main characteristics influencing choice. Although each attribute contains different sub criteria as described by upper class high school students (Galotti & Mark, 1994), how those relate to the music major population was established by the researcher in this dissertation.

Universities/colleges have a vested interest to attract quality students to their university over other institutions to ensure fiscal responsibility and provide appropriate opportunities to incoming students (Moll, 1994). The enrollment of key populations, such as music majors, can be one of importance to many individuals within the university (Filter, 2010). Unlike many other majors, music majors typically require an audition and the use of scholarship money in the selection process (Locke 1982). Possessing the understanding about why individuals choose to enroll at one school over another may be vital to the health and quality of the institution (Filter, 2010; Locke, 1982).

This study is noteworthy in several ways. This research adds to the body of knowledge regarding college choice by examining a population upon which many researchers have chosen not to focus. Previous studies (Hanson & Litten, 1982; Hodges & Barbuto, 2002; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987; Hossler et al., 1989) examined attributes of

college choice from all students with little importance placed upon the desired major. As evident by the gap in literature, the researcher found that studies examining the college choice of music majors were lacking and required further study.

This study addressed the process of choosing a college by those students majoring in music. While the presence of the desired major is an important influence in the choice of institution, few studies have broken down those choice factors exclusively by major (Locke, 1982). The results of this study are relevant for administrators and music faculty attending four-year institutions with the potential to impact the recruitment policies of university staff towards music students (Stevenson, 2011). Knowledge and information concerning the college choice decisions of music majors could allow for efficient use of resources and may raise the rate of enrollment success (Stevenson, 2011), while many college and universities "direct their marketing efforts towards academically talented students" (Kaczynski, 2011, p. 44) a marketing effort aimed to the music major population may help aid in these recruitment goals. Interpreting the progression of why music students choose their institution allows four-year universities to market their institution and increase music major enrollment (Stevenson, 2011).

Research Questions and Hypotheses

The purpose of this research is to investigate and compare the factors influencing the college choice of music majors at four-year private and public universities. Prior research by Locke (1982) found a difference in college selection based on public/private affiliation. This study compared college choice data from freshmen music majors based on a study of real-life decision making (Galotti, 1995) and the factors influencing music majors' choice of institution (Locke, 1982). The four main factors affecting college

choice and the decision making process include financial, social, institutional, and academic (Galotti, 1995). This dissertation focused on which factors guided students majoring in music to attend their chosen university and which factors weigh heavier in the decision process.

The research questions and hypotheses considered in this research follow:

Ho: There will be no difference in proportion of participants in agreement with statements concerning the importance of factors regarding choice of college, when comparing responses for each individual question on the administered survey between public school choice and private school choice.

Ha: There will be a difference in proportion of participants in agreement with statements concerning the importance of factors regarding choice of college, when comparing responses for each individual question on the administered survey between public school choice and private school choice.

1. To what extent do academic factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university? (e.g. academic challenge, admissions requirements, course offerings, faculty quality, majors offered, reputation/accreditation, school regulations, success of graduates, type of school)

 Ho_{1a} : There is no difference in proportion between positive views of academic factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution

Ha_{1a}: There is a difference in proportion between positive views of academic factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution

 Ho_{1b} : Choice of college setting is independent of academic factors described on the survey.

Ha_{1b}: Choice of college setting is not independent of academic factors described on the survey.

2. To what extent do institutional factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university? (e.g. campus appearance, campus atmosphere, class size, dorms, extracurricular programs, facilities, location, physical setting, size)

Ho_{2a}: There is no difference in proportion between positive views of institutional factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha_{2a}: There is a difference in proportion between positive views of institutional factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

 Ho_{2b} : Choice of college setting is independent of institutional factors described on the survey.

Ha_{2b}: Choice of college setting is not independent of institutional factors described on the survey.

3. To what extent do financial factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university? (e.g. cost, financial aid)

 Ho_{3a} : There is no difference in proportion between positive views of financial factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha_{3a}: There is a difference in proportion between positive views of financial factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

 ${
m Ho_{3b}}$: Choice of college setting is independent of financial factors described on the survey.

Ha_{3b}: Choice of college setting is not independent of financial factors described on the survey.

4. To what extent do personal/social factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university? (e.g. distance from home, parents'/friends' advice, peers/friends at school, social networking.)

 Ho_{4a} : There is no difference in proportion between positive views of personal factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha_{4a}: There is a difference in proportion between positive views of personal factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ho_{4b}: Choice of college setting is independent of personal/social factors described on the survey.

Ha_{4b}: Choice of college setting is not independent of personal/social factors described on the survey.

5. Does the achievement level of entering music major students indicate differences in college selection?

 Ho_{5a} : There is no difference in proportion between entering achievement level with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha_{5a}: There is a difference in proportion between entering achievement level with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ho_{5b}: Choice of college setting is independent of achievement level.

Ha_{5b}: Choice of college setting is not independent of achievement level.

6. Do the factors influencing the college choice of music majors vary between genders?

Ho₆: There is no difference in proportion between genders on importance of factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha₆: There is a difference in proportion between genders on importance of factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

7. Do the factors influencing the college choice vary by type of institution (e.g. public vs. private)?

Ho₇: There is no difference in proportion between type of institution with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha₇: There is a difference in proportion between type of institution with regard to music majors' choice of institution

Definition of Terms

College – A four year institution of higher learning providing a general or liberal arts education rather than technical or professional training (College, n.d.).

College Choice - The decision to enroll in postsecondary education not including technical or professional training (Filter, 2010).

College Choice Process - The complete process a student undertakes when deciding to attend a specific institution of higher learning including decisions to attend college, learning about various institutions, and making the decision to attend a specific institution (Filter, 2010).

Music Major - A first year college student who chooses to major or focus in one specific discipline of music including, but not limited to, music education, music performance, music business, and music composition (Locke, 1982).

Out-of-Pocket Cost - The calculation of all educational expenses incurred to attend college when financial aid (grant/scholarship) is removed from the final price (Chapman, 1981).

Limitations

Several limitations restrict and define the boundaries of this study. The researcher limited the population to include only those students claiming music as their emphasis of study at the start of their freshmen year. By choosing this population as an interest, not all results can be generalized to all students. The survey used in this study is self-reported, thus asking about a decision which may have occurred more than a year ago based on the students' college timeline that may alter the results. In addition, the survey may not address every aspect of the college choice. Music conservatories traditionally serve a separate clientele from those served by most public and private universities and were not included in the study, and two-year or community colleges were also not included due to the lack of specialized music degrees offered at these institutions (Locke, 1982). Finally, due to travel constraints, only four- year universities within a specified mileage were included in this study to be able to distribute the survey in a timely manner for analysis.

Conclusion

Decisions regarding college choice, although a topic of research interest for over 40 years (Astin, 1965), is lacking in the specific content area of music majors. Though some studies revolve around specific groups of students (Filter, 2010; Schneider & Klotz, 2000; Stevenson, 2011; Toma & Cross, 1998), the factors influencing music majors is one with room for growth (Locke, 1982). Only one published dissertation at the time of this study had examined the responses of music majors' choice of institution (Locke, 1982). This mixed method study involved surveying music majors as well as

interviewing students to help fill the literature gap in how music major's choose an institution.

Chapter 1 outlined the current study by providing background for the study, purpose of the study, research questions and hypothesis, definition of terms, and the limitations. Chapter 2 will provide the reader with pertinent information concerning models of college choice, factors influencing college choice, and music major perspectives. The Literature Review explored current research based on four main attributes influencing the college choice of the general student seeking a college degree, as well as the potential music major. Included is the use of social networking and its possible impact on the college choice. Chapter 3 describes the methodology for this study. The researcher's intent was to evaluate the data received using the Spearman Rank order and the equally weighted criteria model (Galotti, 1995; Levin & Fox, 2007); this chapter also includes a description of the population, sample, and procedures implemented in this research. Chapter 4 will report the results of the study, and Chapter 5 will discuss the implications of the results and areas for continued growth and research.

Chapter Two: Literature Review

College Choice Phases

This study contributes to previous literature by examining how students majoring in music are influenced during the college choice process. Although previous college choice literature explores the influence of many factors on the general choice process, the influence on music majors has not been widely researched (Locke, 1982). This chapter offers a foundation for the study and consists of three sections. First, the research concerning college choice phases is reviewed establishing the importance of when students begin their college search. Second, college choice models are presented and defined to explain environmental, institutional, and marketing strategies. Finally, factors influencing college choice related to the general student populations and music majors are presented and discussed.

The need for colleges to recruit receives little debate, and for good reason.

During the 1970s and 1980s, a shift from colleges selecting students based on merit, moved to the recruitment of students based on enrollment needs (Chapman, 1981). A study conducted in the late 1970s and 1980s predicted a scenario with many complications and problems for future college and university enrollments (Carnegie Council, 1980). These studies predicted a drop in enrollment anywhere from 18% to 40% in certain regions of the country (Chapman, 1981). Although history has proven this scenario false, the recruitment of students is no less necessary today than it was years ago (Beckett, 2009).

Looking for the best academic and financial aid opportunities, students often apply to multiple institutions (Paulson, 1990). This forces universities to accept higher

numbers of students so enrollment levels remain level or rise, all while trying to maintain a standard of educational integrity (Paulson, 1990). No longer is recruitment limited to admissions, individual faculty and departments are now getting involved in the recruitment process (Holmes, 1994). The author of this study believes having a better understanding of how and why students make choices in determining their institution will better serve the admission office, faculty, and students in school recruitment goals.

Colleges and universities seek to promote their programs through basic marketing approaches (Aldridge, 2010). They want to effectively plan or forecast enrollment to the best of their ability and more effectively influence the decision-making process of students interested in the institution (Paulsen, 1990).

To plan for enrollments and to manage enrollments, professionals must begin with an understanding of the demand for higher education and of how students decide to enroll in a specific college or university...an important step in the development of a specialized knowledge base for enrollment managers. (Hossler, 1984, p. 8)

Due to the increasing demand for students, both practitioners and researchers alike have developed models of the college choice process. While some researchers have developed a seven-stage model of college choice delving into possible alternatives to college (Kotler & Fox, 1985), many researchers have focused their efforts into a two phase (Chapman & Jackson, 1987) or more notably, a three phase (Hanson & Litten, 1982; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987; Hossler et al., 1989) model of college choice. The three-phase model consists of a predisposition, search, and choice phase (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987).

While the two-phase approach involves a college search and the college choice, the terminology for each phase of the three-phase college choice varies; however, the basic design for each model involves deciding whether or not to go to college, investigating possible choices, and narrowing down those choices to a final college decision (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). Literature suggests that within each model of college choice (whether referencing two or three phases) two basic approaches predominately influence the student's decision (Dixon & Martin, 1991). One approach, based on what Dixon and Martin (1991) called a "social-psychological method" (p. 32) is implemented when the student is influenced by four groups of factors impacting the thought process (e.g. academic, social, financial, and personal influences), the other, an economic perspective, occurs when the student deals only with the perceived cost to benefit his or her choice (Dixon & Martin, 1991; Murphy, 1981). This study will focus on the four social-psychological attributes as reported through the three-phase model (Galotti, 1995).

First Phase. In the search for an institution, high school students undergo various thought processes in an effort to determine college aspirations (Chapman, 1981; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). In the first stage, commonly referred to as the predisposition, students decide whether they would like to continue educational aspirations beyond high school (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). The first phase factors deemed important and influential to the possibility of college are as follows: attending high-quality high schools, having positive attitudes toward education, and early information on financial aid as well as institutional costs. Along with financial aid and costs, Peters (1977) cited socioeconomic status as one of the more important factors in the predisposition phase.

Due to these factors occurring early in the choice process, the first phase seems minimally impacted by universities directly yet highly influenced by the parents and other individuals involved in the child's life (Hossler et al., 1999).

Parental involvement and the level of a parent's education are significant predictors as to whether their child will attend college (Hossler & Stage, 1992; Tierney, 2002). Ali and Saunders (2006) found when children feel valued and supported by their parents to attend college, it plays a key role even if the parents did not attend college themselves. Individuals such as parents, teachers, or peer groups have the ability to shape the predisposition phase (Bergerson, 2010). When individuals support students who aspire to attend college, they are influenced to follow through with their college intentions (Bergerson, 2010). Factors such as academic achievement or financial obligations may also affect the decision to attend college (Hossler, Schmit, & Vesper, 1999).

Although several components of student choice are identifiable in the first phase of college choice, events shaping the first (predisposition) phase may be more difficult to understand and explain (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). Simply stated, at some point between grade school and early high school, students typically decide to attend or not attend college (Jackson, 1978). Jackson's 1978 study identified three types of students, which become apparent during the predisposition phase of college choice: "Whiches, Whethers, and Nots" (p. 571). "Whiches" refer to those students who know they will attend college but need help determining which college to attend. "Whethers" refer to those students who apply to one or two local colleges, but may not attend either one at

all. Finally, "Nots" refer to the students who never truly consider college a viable option (Jackson, 1978).

While many variables influence student predisposition to enroll in higher education, one research study conducted by Cabrera and La Nasa in 2000 suggested the first phase of choice occurs between seventh and ninth grade. Another study by Hossler et al. (1999), found that many students at younger ages assumed college would follow high school as a natural progression, hinting that perhaps parents and other school influences help form aspirations to attend college prior to the seventh grade year of school. The predisposition phase continues into the 10th grade year of high school progressing into what Hossler and Gallagher (1987) refer to as the second phase, or search stage of college choice.

Second Phase. According to Cabrera and La Nasa (2000), high school students reach a point in their junior and senior years where they are ready to investigate a college based on their own personal aspirations and the attributes the institutions may possess. However, Hossler et al. (1989) argued the search process could start by the sophomore year. Elementary students may have thoughts or desires to attend college, but the specific decision to actually attend college is made around the sophomore or junior year of high school (Gilmour, Spiro, & Dolich, 1981). The researcher believes this is partly due to the timing of national exams such as the Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) or American College Test (ACT). Students interested in college typically take these entrance exams around this time in their high school career (Gilmour et al., 1981; Hossler et al., 1999).

In this phase, parental support influences students' choices by their involvement in college visits, financial saving/planning, or filling out college forms (Hossler et al.,

1999). Parents who have attended college tend to be more knowledgeable, not just about the types of aid available to students, but the qualifications to receive that aid (Olson & Rosenfeld, 1984). Obtaining accurate information in high school is a key predictor that students will be satisfied with their final college choice and confident the criteria for colleges in consideration fit their needs (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000). One significant research study pointed out that 72% of students report forming a list of possible college choices their junior year while 66% of those juniors started the process of applying to schools the next fall (Gilmour et al., 1981). Regardless, most researchers agreed the search or second phase of the choice process occurs in the middle of high school.

Attributes such as quality, campus life, majors, availability, and distance are important factors to consider but only become important after parental support has influenced the desire to attend in the first place (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000).

This step of the process involves students learning about themselves and the institutions in which they may be interested in attending (Bergerson, 2010; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987), potential students actively search schools, visit campuses and talk to friends. During the search or second phase, potential students start to seek more information about college and interact with potential institutions with a greater consistency, allowing these institutions great influence over choice if they are proactive in their efforts (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987).

Gathering appropriate information is essential in this phase of decision-making (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). Three types of information gathering take place during the search phase: attentive, active, and interactive (Hossler et al., 1999). Attentive searching implies a passive interest in collegiate options (Hossler et al., 1999). Active searching

involves gathering information and having conversations as to the options available, while interactive searching involves having discussions with family, teachers, counselors, and college representatives (Hossler et al., 1999). Students in the interactive phase are more specifically seeking individuals that may help them realize the goal of attending college (Bergerson, 2010).

The search phase ends when the student decides to apply to certain institutions for enrollment. These institutions which the student applies to, referred to as a "Choice Set" (Jackson, 1982, p. 239), are distinguishable by variables such as the following: selectivity, distance from home, cost, size, or any number of variables viewed as important to the student (Paulsen, 1990). Many of the research studies relating to the music major do not fit the typical variables as researched to the general populations, such as the extra step of the audition process, and leave professors and admission departments with questions influencing this specific population and what attributes they search for (Locke, 1982; Ludeman, 1964; Overmier, 2003). According to many researchers, "the best way for an institution to expand their applicant pool and gain new students is to reach them at the search phase" (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987, p. 218).

Third Phase. Finally, the choice to attend a particular institution is made for various reasons including; expectations and perceptions regarding quality of the institution, campus life, availability of majors, and the ability to finance college shape tangible enrollment (Hossler et al., 1999). This stage usually occurs in the junior or senior year of high school (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000). At each phase of the process, organizational and individual factors combine to produce a college choice outcome (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000). These outcomes may lead the student to seek interest in

more than one institution (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). Institutional characteristics also play a vital role in this choice phase (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000; Hossler et al., 1999). Parents tend to become secondary in the final phase with the institution itself becoming a primary influence leading a student to enroll (Bergerson, 2010; Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000). In this phase, the "preferences of the applicant, attributes of the college, and courtship procedures appear to determine the outcome" (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987, p. 216).

Table 1

Three Phase Model of College Choice

Model	Individual Factors	Organizational Factors	Student Outcomes
Predisposition	Student	School	College options
(Phase one)	characteristics	Characteristics	
	Significant others		
	Educational activities		Other options
Search	Student preliminary	College and	Choice set
(Phase two)	college values	university search	
	Student search activities		Other options
Choice	Choice set	College and	Choice
(Phase three)		University courtship activities	

Source: Hossler & Gallagher, 1987, p. 208

In the third and final "choice" phase, students make their lasting evaluations and decide on a specific institution. Financial aid does make a difference in this phase but it is not necessarily the deciding factor (Jackson & Chapman, 1984). Large amounts of aid typically move a second-choice school up to a first-choice option (Jackson & Chapman, 1984). This information lends to the idea that institutions need to be a possible choice to

begin with before financial aid becomes an influential factor (Jackson & Chapman, 1984). During the third phase of the choice process, most colleges and universities have only a minor impact on the decision making process. Perhaps one of the most cited models of college choice is Hossler and Gallagher's (1987) three-stage model (Bergerson, 2010). Table 1 lists possible factors influencing each stage of their three-phase model with possible outcomes.

Each model in Table 1 results in a specific outcome based on individual student factors which may not fit into a predictable schedule (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987).

Research in the area of college choice is a difficult discussion because not every student has the same information available at similar points in the process, and assessing decisions without appropriate knowledge of the decision-makers objectives is difficult to determine (Galotti, 1995). This creates a difficult scenario to test due to the number of influences affecting college choice such as academic quality, cost, or any number of variables (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). Along with the discussion of college choice, it is important to discuss possible factors which may affect each phase of the college choice.

Choice Models

Related literature in the area of college choice studies is divided into two main categories, macro-level and micro-level studies. Macro-level studies focus on overall environmental and institutional characteristics and are designed to predict or describe total enrollment for an institution or larger entity such as a region or state (Hossler, 1984). Micro-level studies aim to show relationships and how environmental, institutional, and individual student characteristics can affect the choice of institution and perhaps whether or not to attend college at all (Paulsen, 1990). Micro-level studies

estimate the effects of various attributes, and generally offer a probability that a student will select a specified college or university (Hossler et al., 1989).

Micro-level studies also provide a basis for specific marketing towards students. Given the nature of student choice and the competition among many universities for similar students, institutions can incorporate micro studies to estimate outcomes of specific student characteristics to aid in the prediction that an applicant will become an enrolled student (Hossler et al., 1989). In short, micro-level studies "focus on the factors which influence the decision-making processes" (Paulsen, 1990, p. 23) and are more beneficial than macro-level research for this study.

Factors Influencing Choice

College bound high school students report considering specific criteria and approximately four different schools; for many students this is their first major life decision (Galotti, 1995). Academic factors include those attributes which are dependent on achievement and academic reputation: academic challenge, admissions requirements, course offerings/curriculum, faculty quality/credentials, majors offered, reputation/accreditation, school regulations, success of graduates, and types of school (e.g. public vs. private) (Galotti, 1995). Institutional factors are those which revolve around campus appearance, atmosphere, class size/student/faculty ratio, dorms, extracurricular options, facilities, location, physical setting (e.g. rural/urban), and size (Galotti, 1995; Galotti & Mark, 1994). Financial factors involve two attributes: cost and financial aid (Galotti, 1995; Hossler & Vesper, 1993). The final factor--personal/social--includes distance from home, parents'/friends' advice, and friends at school (Drewes & Michael, 2006; Galotti, 1995).

Academic. In the realm of academics and student choice, students tend to self-select the colleges in which they apply based on what they believe the college will accept as entrance criteria (Chapman, 1981). They have a preconceived notion of their own academic quality compared to the institutional reputation; they typically select institutions where they perceive the enrolled students have a comparable aptitude (Chapman, 1981). Perhaps these findings help account for the fact that many colleges contribute to this scenario by posting average standardized test scores and grade point averages (GPA) for their incoming classes as a measure of comparison to advise potential students of their probability of admission (Hossler et al., 1989).

Students, who excel academically, tend to have more postsecondary options as well as higher levels of access to information (Bergerson, 2010). Higher achieving students find themselves receiving more information concerning college options from counselors, family, and from the college themselves compared to students with lower academic ability or GPA (Galotti, 1995). Because these students find themselves loaded with information earlier in their high school career, the school choice processes may begin and lead to different outcomes which lower achieving students may not be privy to (Galotti, 1995).

In many cases, students select colleges in which they feel they can take the courses they need to enter graduate school or obtain jobs (Chapman, 1981). The courses available and the benefits of those courses seem to be important characteristics in college choice (Chapman, 1981). The higher the academic ability of a student, the greater they concern themselves with academic quality, programs, and awareness of "net cost" or total out-of-pocket cost incurred when grants and scholarship have been factored into the

equation, versus the price (Litten, 1982). Socioeconomic status of the student has shown to relate positively to the academic achievement of the student (Bergerson, 2010). Students become less concerned about campus appearance, career outcomes, and financial matters as their academic increases (Litten, 1982).

Institutional. Aside from the academic factors which may influence choice, three institutional characteristics of extreme importance factor into the college search process: locations, programs, and quality (Chapman, 1981; Drewes & Michael, 2006; Ihlandfeldt, 1980). Location can play a major role influencing the decision. Over 50% of entering freshmen attend college within 50 miles of their home; 92% attend college within 500 miles of home (Ihlandfeldt, 1980). Filter (2010) found that as distance increased, students were less likely to enroll in their first choice institution while Chapman (1981) found college in general becomes less attractive to students when distance from home increases.

Students are also more apt to attend college when they live in an area with several college choices (Paulsen, 1990). A study conducted in Canada found, with uniform tuition fees throughout the Canadian university system, distance and scholarship opportunities are the most important factors when considering to which schools students applied (Drewes & Michael, 2006). High school students were likely to rate a university close to home as their first choice institution with everything else considered similar (Drewes & Michael, 2006).

An institutional factor often overlooked in many studies is the effect athletic programs or the reputation athletic programs may have on the college decision (Braddock, Sokol-Katz, Dawkins, & Lv, 2006). A student interested in a specific sport

may choose a school with a national reputation in that area regardless of the reputation of various institutional attributes the school may or may not possess (Braddock et al., 2006). This example may not hold true for every student, but studies show many institutions benefit from successful athletic programs regardless of a student's involvement in athletics (Toma & Cross, 1998). Toma and Cross (1998) found a championship sports team, specifically football or basketball, can translate into dramatic increases in the number of admissions applications the school receives the following school year.

Athletic reputation, according to Toma and Cross (1998) appeared to have some bearing on school choice. Many institutional factors such as the location of the institution or reputation are difficult to change in a relatively short time period; the award of financial aid however, may be an immediate factor in persuading the college choice when institutional attributes do not (Jackson, 1978).

Financial. An important component to the economic aspect of deciding to go to college is financial aid (Hossler et al., 1999; Jackson, 1978). Studies on the effects of financial aid related to college choice indicate that major determinants to college choice are the result of socioeconomic background, academic achievement, and aspiration (Hossler et al., 1999). An interesting point made by Jackson's (1978) research is that the amount of financial aid seemed to be less important than the simple offer of any financial aid. In the field of finance, a student's choice of college is based upon the relative cost and quality of all of the institutions in his or her choice set (Kealy & Rockel, 1987).

Students' perceptions of their families' capacity to pay also appear to weigh heavily in college selection among lower income students (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000). Financial

aid and knowledge of the financial aid process may help influence the student and parents that college is affordable (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000).

Other studies in the area of finance and college choice conclude that behavior from different socioeconomic classes may be somewhat predictable (Tierney, 1979). Students from homes with higher socioeconomic status (SES) are more likely to go to four-year universities (Chapman, 1981). Lower income families tend to be more predictable in this area concerning influence and college choice compared to middle-income families, while middle-income families tend to be more predictable than upper income households (Chapman, 1981). Educational aspirations and expectations have shown to correlate positively with SES. Upper income students gravitate towards private universities while middle income students prefer state universities (Chapman, 1981; Tierney, 1979). Students with lower family incomes statistically prefer community college as their first choice institution due to price and ability to pay (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000; Chapman, 1981). In most scenarios, students made their college choice based on three financial factors: student loans, grants and scholarships, and work-study programs (Chapman, 1981).

Cost tends to be more of a factor in the decision of which college to enroll as opposed to influencing where they apply (Chapman, 1981). Perhaps variables to attend college are more associated with family background and income over college price (Chapman, 1981). For students with lower income and aptitude levels, college becomes less attractive when tuition expenses, room and board expenses, and distance from home increase creating a greater need for financial aid (Lynch, Engle, & Cruz, 2011). At higher levels of student income and aptitude, the effects of financial aid, particularly

scholarship aid, become less important in the college decision (Blakemore & Low, 1983; St. John, 1990; Tierney, 1982).

Regardless of social class, all students were noticeably more responsive to financial aid than tuition (St. John, 1990). For low-income students, an increase in scholarship or financial aid increased the probability of attendance more than two and one half times an equal decrease in tuition may provide (St. John, 1990). Socioeconomic status is made of composite factors: parental education, family income and wealth, funds available for college, and the degree of sacrifice college expenditures would cause (Paulsen, 1990).

Socioeconomic status seems to be one of the more important student characteristics to be associated with college choice (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000; Fetters, 1977; Hossler et al., 1989). Student perceptions of their ability to pay weigh heavily in college selection, specifically among low-income students (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). Financial aid and knowledge of financial aid may help influence the student and parent's decision that college is an affordable option (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000). Many students lack accurate information on the true net cost of an institution and may just give attention to the cost or "sticker price" of the school (Jackson, 1982). This researcher believes a better communication effort from universities and colleges could enhance the marketing information of true cost through attendance. "Short form" or some type of early financial aid form may aid in the cause (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987).

As important as financial aid can be in the college choice, it is not necessarily the final factor. Large amounts of aid typically move a second-choice school up to a first-

choice school, but an institution needs to be a possible choice to begin with (Jackson & Chapman, 1984). Freeman (1984) found that financial aid did positively affect choice and perhaps price is sensitive to a number of variables. Even more interesting, studies found that non-aid based actions like letters, on-campus banquets, and special certificates may be as important as financial aid in some scenarios (Freeman, 1984; Kealy & Rockel, 1987). Freeman (1984) reported students prefer personalized correspondence, especially from faculty who taught in the student's desired major. These findings are of special significance when one considers the typical choice set for many students is only one or two institutions (Astin, 1984). These types of personal and social influences play a role in a student's college choice.

Personal/Social. While many social factors affect the decision to attend college, parental encouragement has shown to be of crucial importance in the formation of college aspirations. Parents, peers, and counselors are included as major factors influencing decisions on school choice and the process students undertake (Chapman, 1981; Litten, 1982). A positive relationship exists between the amount of parental encouragement received and the child's postsecondary plan of attending a selective four-year university (Conklin & Dailey, 1981). In some cases, parental influence on their child's school choice resulted in some schools focusing their recruitment efforts towards the parents (Hodges & Barbuto, 2002).

Parental encouragement has two facets: maintaining standards for their children (motivational) and having a proactive interaction where they become involved in school matters and saving for college (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000). Saving for college, presumed to be an objective and a key expression of parental encouragement to attend college

(Hossler & Vesper, 1993), becomes evident when parents initiate college savings plans or advise their children on a possible range of options showing support for their decisions (Flint, 1992). Parents help shape expectations by offering advice and influencing not only college attendance, but which schools their child should consider applying to (Filter, 2010). While parents may be the authoritative figure in a young child's life, peers begin to influence decisions beginning in adolescence (Payne, 2010). This researcher believes peers play an important role in the college choice.

Students with peers who plan to attend college play a vital role influencing enrollment as they are more likely to attend as well (Kealy & Rockel, 1987; Tillery, 1973). Friends help shape college aspirations as well as decisions on where to attend (Chapman, 1981; Kealy & Rockel, 1987). Parents, friends, teachers, and counselors are not the only influences, however; current collegiate students along with the campus visit appear to have a significant influence on a prospective student's perceptions of academic, social, and athletic qualities (Filter, 2010; Kealy & Rockel, 1987).

Marketing

A determining factor in college choice revolves around the process of how the college or university markets (effectively communicates) the student preferences, such as size or academic standards, and benefits to potential students (Litten, Sullivan, & Brodigan, 1984). The goal for any institution is to "determine the needs and wants of target markets and to satisfy them through appropriate and competitively viable programs and services" (Kotler & Fox, 1985, p. 10). Colleges effectively recruit by promoting the institution's own attributes compared to students' educational and personal desires (Paulsen, 1990).

Research that focuses on general practices leading to effective new student recruitment and enrollment of high school graduates indicates a blend of proven recruiting strategies and the incorporation of new methodologies from social science research (Paulsen, 1990). Direct mail, high school visits, college fairs, telemarketing, off-campus previews, alumni recruitment, and on-campus visits are the mainstay of admissions recruitment to increase enrollment (Galotti & Mark, 1994). New developments include using demographic tools to refine regions where colleges should actively search for students, providing individualized tours of campus facilities, and offering individual financial aid counseling as part of a campus visit (Dehne, 1994). Technology and advanced information systems which allow students to apply electronically and look up their application, or financial aid status, is a popular trend among universities (Galotti & Mark, 1994).

The more personalized the search for an institution is during the search process, the more effective the marketing efforts are likely to be (Dehne, 1994). In direct mail, telemarketing, campus visits, and many other forms of recruitment, students view the level of personalization as a form of courtship (Dehne, 1994). A study conducted by the admissions advisory committee from the University of Rhode Island (2011), found personalizing the experience for families and consolidating necessary information to one central location positively influences the admissions process (Admissions Advisory Committee, 2011).

The other guiding principle of effective new student recruitment, or searching, is timing, or reaching students when they are ready for information (Hossler et al., 1989).

Research indicated that marketing and recruitment resources directed to high school

sophomores should be selectively restricted (Hossler et al., 1989; Kappler, 1998). While completing the predisposition phase and deciding to attend or not attend college, sophomores may not be ready to accept specific college choice information (Hossler, 1999). To the extent it takes place, information should be succinct and written as much for parents as for prospective students (Hossler et al., 1999; Hossler et al., 1989).

As juniors, students are ready for more information (Hossler et al., 1989; Kappler, 1998). During the junior year and the summer before the senior year, college-bound students become more serious and focused about the college decision-making process (Hossler et al., 1989; Hossler et al. 1989). By the fall of the senior year, seniors are simultaneously very active in seeking out information about colleges and universities but also more likely to report that they are feeling overwhelmed by the amount of information (Hossler et al., 1989; Hossler et al., 1999; Kappler, 1998). Additionally, most seniors have stopped adding any previously unconsidered colleges by January. Thus, the spring and summer of the junior year emerges as the ideal time in which students search for prospective institutions (Hossler et al., 1989).

Some authors argued that a marketing approach can be successful if it involves information on its standing compared to its competition (Paulsen, 1990). Kotler and Fox (1985) believed that an effective marketing mix for a college involves developing and offering an attractive product, effectively communicating and promoting its attributes, and delivering it in appropriate places at acceptable prices. While printed material may have been a preferred source to send and receive information by parents, students, and college admissions in the past (Waggoner, 1978), online communication by universities

is a growing trend, and one of the most popular and widely used applications today (Papp, 2009).

Online. The use of online communications to market a school and students can be a viable option when other forms of communications are lacking (Ellison, Steinfield, & Lampe, 2007). The online source Universitiesandcolleges.org reports that every top 100 school, according to US News and World Report in 2010, had at least one twitter account officially associated with the school. By 2010, 83% of college admissions officers support Facebook as well as other social networking sites as a realistic form of communicating with students (Barnes & Mattson, 2010).

According to Nielsen online, the use of online communities is growing at a substantial rate (McGiboney, 2009). Between February of 2008 and February of 2009, Twitter grew 1382% totaling over seven million users and growing at a rate of approximately 500,000 users per day in March 2011 (McGiboney, 2009). No longer are sites like Twitter and Facebook an avenue for friends to stay in touch but rather a form of brand marketing to connect with others (McGiboney, 2009).

Colleges and universities use a form of online marketing and social media in a variety of different ways. University sponsored media such as a digital university press or online campus radio allows specific departments to give specialized updates (McGiboney, 2009). Colleges and universities also use social media to broadcast their school to current and prospective students (Universities and colleges, n.d). Some schools have gone as far as using social media to advise current students and meet prospective students in the virtual world. Pennsylvania State University social-network advisors are

required to spend a minimum of two hours each week on the site "Second Life" in an effort to better serve students (Parry, 2009)

As universities plan and market to promote their respective institutions, none may rival the potential market saturation of a web site (Turner, 2004). With immediate access from anywhere in the country, web sites may make it easier for potential students to gather information about the many different programs and weigh each department's individual strengths (Turner, 2004). If web sites intend to promote or advertise to a broad audience, it may be prudent to examine web pages for a more balanced presence of images. Advertising research suggested that if potential customers (students) can see themselves within the advertised picture, there is a greater likelihood that they will buy the product (Hirshmann & Thompson, 1997).

In a related vein, Tower (2007) recommends that universities examine their marketing efforts, avoiding a one-size-fits-all approach to reach potential students. This survey found that an overwhelming number of high school students are using the internet to research and even tour campuses. More than 81% of respondents began collecting information on colleges before beginning their junior year of high school claiming electronic correspondence as the format in which they would most like to receive information from colleges and universities (Tower, 2007). This study also reported that 55% of students said they had taken a virtual campus tour prior to a personal tour. Additionally, more than 75% of the respondents claimed to investigate college web sites mostly or only while at home, where parents exert influence (Tower, 2007).

Face-to-Face Interactions. Many college admissions representatives consider campus visits an effective recruiting activity for students (Chapman, 1981; Filter, 2010;

Kealy & Rockel, 1987). Previous studies have shown that students did not select a college based on printed material (Kealy & Rockel, 1987). Students tend to be persuaded by cost, friends' decisions, and availability of desired programs (Jackson & Chapman, 1984). In many cases students reported that they did not know how to evaluate much of the printed information they received from university mailings or handouts (Jackson & Chapman, 1984).

An understanding of which college attributes are most influential offers important guiding principles for the expansion of the programs, prices, and places, which make up a favorable marketing program for attracting desired students (Paulsen, 1990). The inspiration guiding a student's choice can be distinctive and different from what many recruiters may believe. Standard recruiting methods such as printed programs, brochures, or alumni may be ineffective in persuading college choice (Overmier, 2003). Many recruiters imitate the tactics of other schools, only to find the results unsatisfactory (Kelly, 1988). One recruitment method should not be used for every instance but rather individualized approaches should guide recruiters to discover what students are looking for and direct recruitment strategies towards those desires (Kelly, 1988; Kuras, 1997).

Marketing Influences. The best marketing practices take place when institutional characteristics are clearly and effectively illustrated to students (Paulsen, 1990). To encourage and aid in college marketing, knowing how students want to receive information is important. Once college aspirations form and students enter the second or "search" phase, they begin acquiring information about possible college choices. They search for information about institutions with characteristics they deem to be important (Kelly, 1988; Paulsen, 1990). They do so by asking and inquiring, in what

they view are the most trustworthy sources (Paulsen, 1990). A study conducted by Litten and Brodigan (1982) found eight main institutional attributes which students find important. Parents and students agreed on the same eight characteristics; however, they did not necessarily agree on the most important influence for each attribute, as shown in Table 2.

Table 2

Preferred Information Sources by College Attribute______

= 1 eg e 11 e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e			
College Attributes	Students	Parents	
1. Financial	Admissions Officer	Admissions Officer	
	College Publications	College Publications	
2. Fields of Study	College Publications	College Publications	
	Admissions Officer	Admissions Officer	
3. Academic Reputation	H.S. Counselor	H.S. Counselor	
	Commercial Guides	Commercial Guides	
	Alumni	Alumni	
4. Teaching Quality	H.S. Counselor	Alumni	
	College Students	College Students_	
5. Academic Standards	H.S. Counselor	Alumni	
	College Students	Admissions Officer	
		College Faculty	
6. Location	College Publications	College Publications	
	College Students	College Students	
7. Social Atmosphere	Alumni	Alumni	
	College Students	College Students	
8. Careers Available	Alumni	Alumni	
	Admissions Officer	Admissions Officer	

Table 2 shows similarities and differences when it comes to how parents and students choose to receive information. This study demonstrates the relationship and

impact parents can have on the college choice so it could be important to analyze both parties involved. This table reveals that college faculty only appeared on one attribute (Academic Standards) and only as a recommended source of information for the parents. In fact, according to the study, parents are twice as likely to identify faculty as a preferred source of information in the field of academics (Litten & Brodigan, 1982). Students prefer personalized correspondence from faculty who teach in the students desired major (Freeman, 1984).

High Ability Students

For institutions and recruiters, early recruitment may be a necessary requirement considering high achieving students search earlier and more often (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). Students of average ability might just need to be aware of an institution to allow it to become a searchable choice (Hossler & Gallagher, 1987). Efforts to recruit these types of students early may be counterproductive. Similar to sophomores, average academic ability students may not be ready to receive information on possible college choices (Filter, 2010). High ability students, however, tend to conduct more sophisticated searches (Litten et al., 1984). This coincides with findings from Zemsky and Oedel (1983) that found as Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) scores and SES fall, applicants narrow the geographic range of institutions in consideration.

Higher ability students are apt to report more criteria and very distinct types of criteria in the choice process (Galotti, 1995). They also report starting the search earlier than their peers and consider more college options in the process (Galotti & Mark, 1994). College-bound high school students report considering specific criteria and approximately four different schools as they face this decision (Galotti, 1995). While the

most influential factors tend to stay consistent as they get closer to their final decision, average to high ability students report more criteria and even more distinct categories of criteria in the choice process (Galotti & Mark, 1994; Filter, 2010).

High ability students have more post-secondary options and investigate options that other students may not (Bergerson, 2010; Filter, 2010). Financially, however, attributes which hold true for average and lower SES students seem to apply to high achieving students as well (Bergerson, 2010). Family income for high achieving students did not seem to be a good indicator of which college a student would enroll in (Filter, 2010). The more a student or the family would have to pay out of pocket for their education, the less likely they were to enroll in their first choice institution (Filter, 2010). Analyzing data from his study, Filter (2010) found academically talented students are significantly influenced by price, and therefore, factor cost into their final choice.

Another attribute, seemingly having a negative impact on a high ability students' first choice institution was distance. Like other studies linking distance to enrollment choice (Chapman, 1981; Dixon & Martin, 1991; Paulsen, 1990), Filter (2010) found high achieving students prefer college choices closer to home with the availability of majors consistent between universities. Parents, counselors, and campus visits, however, significantly influenced the choice of academically talented students to choose their first choice institution (Filter, 2010).

High ability students who viewed a parents' input as important were .08 times more likely to choose their first chose institution compared to the students who did not value their parents input as much (Filter, 2010; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987; Hossler & Stage, 1992;). High ability students are also likely to be influenced by a school counselor

and a campus visit (Filter, 2010; Mayher, 1998). Filter (2010) wrote that campus visits influenced the high ability student .56 times more than other students in the study making it statistically significant.

Research on high achieving students is important for this study. Schneider and Klotz (2000) reported the following:

Traditionally, music students have been considered high achievers whose academic abilities were enhanced by the discipline the arts have afforded them. High school music students have been shown to hold higher grade point averages than non-musicians do in the same school. (p. 15)

Similar research has shown a comparable and significant difference in the achievement level of music students (Shropshire, 2007). Students who participate in music, show significantly higher test scores compared to non-music students on national and state level standardized tests (Shropshire, 2007).

Music Involvement and High Ability Students

As a student's ability increases, college choice and the formation of attending college may be recognizable at an earlier age (Litten, 1982). "Music has been known to contribute to learning and can influence other areas of the curriculum by enhancing spatial reasoning ability" (Shropshire, 2007, p. 81). A student's involvement in music may serve to boost grades and intelligence quotient (IQ) scores compared to those not involved in music, especially instrument and voice students (Bower, 2004). Bower (2004) reports students involved in a weekly music lesson demonstrate a small increase in their IQ score of approximately seven points. A school in Washington State saw a rise in math test scores from 27% to 71% when music was required of their students

(Churchill, 2004). Research studies argue music may have the ability to create higher achieving students (Churchill, 2004; Longley, 1999; Schneider & Klotz, 2000).

A connection between music participation and increased learning in a core curriculum, such as math and reading, is linked through the complex use of affective, cognitive, and psychomotor skills (Longley, 1999). Spatial reasoning may also increase due to the development of reading various symbols and problem solving associated with reading music (Argabright, 2005). One such study examining the use of music and learning occurred in 1994 when The Bolton project, named after Bolton Elementary School in Winston-Salem, initiated an orchestra program into the curriculum of "at risk" children and found that a 30 minute music session three times a week resulted in significant differences in the student's achievement (Lipkin, 2004). Less than 40% of the student's participating in the study achieved at or above grade level when initiated: however, following several years, 85 % scored at or above grade level in reading while 89% of the students reached this level in math moving the elementary school from "at risk" to exemplary (Lipkin, 2004). Simply stated, studies show students who participate in music programs, achieve higher mean scores on standardized test compared to their non-musician peers (Schneider & Klotz, 2000)

Music Majors

"College and university programs are becoming increasingly competitive as the demand for higher business and technology fields intensifies" (Overmier, 1992, p. 4). With the push for many school curriculums moving towards a math and science focus and teacher salaries falling behind many other fields, attracting new music majors and music students requires more time and effort (Harris, 2001). With an annual need of

11,000 music teachers, music departments need to increase and improve their recruiting efforts to contribute to higher enrollment (Lindeman, 2004). This researcher found little published information regarding the factors influencing a music student's choice of institution. Since department survival may depend on factors relating to recruitment, it is important to determine the college choice process of music majors (Locke, 1982).

Music Major Influences. Current research in the field of college choice concerning music majors contains mixed results. The researcher found that many of the studies contribute similar ideas in the field of college choice, but none are exact.

Overmier (2003) found the most important factors influencing freshman music majors were: reputation of the department, course availability, personal involvement with music faculty, cost (best deal), and parents. Campus activities were identified as being very influential by several studies as a means of personal contact with the school while the least important were: reputation, fraternities or sororities, advice of their high school music instructor, proximity of the institution to their home, and a family member attends the same institution (Kelly, 1988; Overmier, 2003).

Students surveyed by Overmier (2003) also listed the five most popular recruitment techniques employed by faculty in this study. The five recruiting techniques employed, as reflected in the responses by all respondents were form letters, a departmental brochure, scholarship offer, an invitation to visit the school, and personal letters expressing a desire to have the respondent attend the institution (Overmier, 2003). Of those five, the most effective identified was the scholarship, and the least effective recruitment method was the form letters (course catalog, department pamphlets) (Overmier, 2003).

One of the first studies this researcher found in the arena of institutional choice of freshmen music majors was by Ludeman (1964). Ludeman (1964) found the five most influential items leading to specific college enrollment were outstanding music faculty, high standards, a "well-rounded" music program, outstanding performing groups, and studying music under top faculty members in the field. The five least influential factors influencing the enrollment of music majors were religious and social groups, no discrimination, influence of friends, high school counselor, and scholarship (Ludeman, 1964). The researcher found that this study is one of the few to list a scholarship as having little importance in the selection process. Based on related literature, it seems contradictory to this researcher that all influential factors are related to music faculty and performing groups when all other studies reference factors outside the music department as possibly influential in the process (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000; Hodges& Barbuto, 2002; Jackson, 1978).

An influential study in the area of college choice and one which guided several survey questions for this research was Locke's (1982) study on the factors that influence the college choice of freshmen music majors. Locke's (1982) study resulted in a list of the top 10 most influential and top 10 least influential factors affecting choice. The 10 factors found to be influential were: overall reputation of the music department, location allows me to live at home and commute, reputation of the music faculty, the music faculty seemed friendly, location is close to home, opportunities to perform with the top ensemble at the college, financially this college was the best deal, the availability of the specific degree program enrolled in, the reputation of the performing groups at the desired college, and the academic reputation of this college (Locke, 1982). Although

almost two decades separate Ludeman (1964) and Locke's (1982) research, many of the same attributes influencing student choice remain consistent like faculty quality and the reputation of performance groups. Locke (1982) also noted location and "best deal" as an influence not mentioned by the Ludeman (1964) study.

The 10 least influential factors in the Locke (1982) study were reputation of the athletic teams, the fraternities or sororities at the college, the advice of the high school guidance counselor, the opportunity to be a "star" in the music department, advice of family members other than parents, the reputation of the music degree at the college was easy, information obtained from a representative of the college who visited the high school, the college is supported or affiliated with religious denomination, the location of the college is distant from the home, and the advice of the high school band, choir, or orchestra director (Locke, 1982). Attributes with little influence on college choice seem to be similar between these two studies. Both Ludeman (1964) and Locke (1982) reference religious affiliation, friends, and counselors having little influence. The difference of note between these studies references the scholarship by Ludeman (1964) as having little importance on choice. Of the 41 possible factors listed in the survey, the advice of the band, choir or orchestra director was rated 32 out of 41 influential factors (Locke, 1982). This may give good reason for recruiters and music professors to spend less time with the directors of these performing groups and more time with the student and/or parents (Locke, 1982; Overmier, 2003).

When broken down, Locke's (1982) study pointed out several factors based on string, wind/percussion, vocal, and piano (keyboard) instrumentation as selected by the student. The study correlated string instrumentalists as being more concerned with the

reputation of their private instructors, cultural opportunities, and the city or town in which the college is located. The wind/percussion students focused more on the reputation of the conductor compared to the vocal students which were more concerned with the reputation of the ensemble or performing groups (Locke, 1982; Overmier, 2003). The piano/keyboard group was more concerned with the overall academic quality, religious affiliation, and family influence (Locke, 1982).

Summary

The reviewed literature formed the basis for this study regarding the college choice of music majors. This literature focused on pertinent influences to this study, and background information of the music major population. College choice is dependent on several factors and external influences (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000; Kaczynski, 2011). Although this literature review does not exhaust every possible influence on the college choice, it does recognize and discuss recruitment strategies and the influences potential students, or more specifically music majors, manage as the college choice is made.

Prior to making the choice on which college to attend, students travel through several phases in the process (Filter, 2010). Deciding to go to college, searching for an institution that meets their needs and wants, and finally choosing a school requires time and resources (Chapman, 1981). Each students' background varies via location, socioeconomic background, and parental encouragement, therefore receiving information at various times and looking for different attributes within their search allows the college choice to be made (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000). For many students, the choice is defined by four characteristics; financial, institutional, academic, and personal (Galotti, 1995; Galotti & Mark, 1994).

Financially, students from higher socioeconomic status backgrounds are more likely than their peers with a lower economic status to attend college (Chapman, 1981; Filter, 2010). Along the same vein, students having to pay more out of pocket cost are less likely to attend college when compared to the student with less out of pocket cost factored into the decision (Jackson, 1982; Litten, 1982). Strong institutional factors influencing enrollment are related to the location of the university and the distance from home the university is located (Chapman, 1981; Paulsen, 1990). Institutions located in more urban areas and within 50 miles of their home tend to positively influence enrollment (Chapman, 1981; Paulsen, 1990).

Academic factors which encourage students to choose a specific college or university revolve heavily on the students' perception of course offerings and how the college/university will better allow them to enter graduate school or get a job afterwards (Chapman, 1981). Personal/social factors influencing choice include the advice of friends and parents as major elements dictating where students choose to attend school (Conklin & Dailey, 1981; Hodges & Barbuto, 2002; Litten, 1982). Music majors however, may operate through a different channel of influences compared to the general public and may seek specific guidelines and be influenced by diverse choices which matter less to students of other disciplines (Overmier, 2003).

Music majors tend to value the reputation of the department and involvement with the faculty as deciding factors in college choice compared to other areas of study (Ludeman, 1964; Overmier, 2003). They also identified proximity to home and the influence of friends as a low priority compared to the general student (Locke, 1982; Ludeman, 1964).

The study of college choice is important in assisting institutions and distinguishing which characteristics students' view as important to facilitate enrollment (Galotti, 1995). The potential music major is a student that meets requirements beyond those of the traditional college-bound student (Schneider & Klotz, 2000). They tend to be high achieving students and search for specific criteria and institutional attributes other students may not consider (Churchill, 2004; Locke, 1982; Longley, 1999; Overmier, 2003; Schneider & Klotz, 2000). High achieving students are very likely to attend college regardless of major and analyzing the final institutional choice with a set population at the time of enrollment, in this case music majors, may be the best indicator for which attributes affect choice (Filter, 2010; Maguire & Lay, 1980).

Chapter Three: Methodology

Overview

College choice research centers around the decision students make to attend and pursue a postsecondary education (Filter, 2010). Much of the literature in this field pays attention to why students may pursue a college education or which college attributes tend to lead students to choose that institution in general terms (Chapman, 1981; Dixon & Martin, 1991; Hodges & Barbuto, 2002). Very few studies seek information concerning the music major population (Overmier, 2003).

The purpose of this research was to investigate the characteristics pertinent to the music major's choice of college at the time of enrollment. This study analyzed data generated by freshmen music majors using a combination of the Chi-Square test for independence and the equally weighted criteria model (Galotti, 1995). A Chi-square test for independence and a *z*-test for difference in proportion were used with appropriate items. Since the *z*-test was for proportions, it did not require randomization of sample data (Bluman, 2009). The college choice factors surveyed to students was based on the study of real-life decision-making (Galotti, 1995) and the factors which influence the music major's choice of institution (Locke, 1982).

This study employed a mixed research design to evaluate college choice factors.

Using data results from a questionnaire based on the study of real-life decision-making (Galotti, 1995), a 31 attribute survey was distributed to all freshmen music majors at each researched university. All enrolled music majors who attended the researched universities gave survey consent at the time of the study and participation was voluntary.

This chapter presents the study's method and explains the primary data and design within the research.

Population

The population for this study included all undergraduate students declaring music as their major area of study entering their first semester of college as freshmen; four universities in total were included in this study. Two private universities and two public universities offered a comparison of factors between the public and private universities as well as the influences that guide each student's choice of institution. The schools were chosen for their public or private affiliations as well as program attributes. Music degrees offered within these universities at the time of the study included a bachelor's degree in music, music education, music business, and music performance. All universities offered a general music degree, music performance, and music education degree while one private university included in this study offered music, music education, music performance, and music business as an additional possible major. Table 3 offers an overview of majors available at each university researched as well as the total number of surveys distributed and returned.

The locations of the universities varied from urban, suburban, and rural communities, and all universities were located in Missouri and Illinois. These universities, chosen due to the similarity of majors and music ensembles offered, and the proximity to the researcher, provided a diverse population based on college attributes.

Table 3 *University Attributes and Survey Distribution*

College Affiliation	Majors Offered	Surveys Distributed	Surveys Returned
Public University 1	Music Education Music Performance Bachelors of Arts in Music Composition	34	31
Public University 2	Music Education Music Performance Music Business Bachelors of Arts in Music	12	11
Private University 1	Music Education Music Performance Music Business Bachelors of Arts in Music	11	11
Private University 2	Music Education Music Performance Music Business Bachelors of Arts in Music	29	29
Total		86	82

Sample

The sample for this study included data from those students attending the researched universities as music majors at the time of survey distribution. No compensations, either monetarily or through class credit, was offered to students for their participation in the study. In return for their assistance, a condensed version of the results

were emailed to all students who reported they would like a copy of the results, and a full copy of the dissertation was emailed to the faculty representatives teaching the classes in which the survey was distributed. The sample size for this study included 84 total students enrolled in their institutions primary theory course. All of the researched institutions chosen required at least two semesters of theory included in their music degree. Since these theory courses are required at the beginning of the degree, it was an optimal venue to distribute the survey.

Development of Instrument

The survey was given to all students claiming music as their major during the 2011 fall semester. The survey was reviewed by a committee of nine professionals in the field of music education, music performance, music business, K-12 education, higher education, and university admissions prior to administration. The survey instrument was three pages in length and required approximately 15 minutes to complete. The format of the survey included 24 questions concerning specific attributes of the college choice rated on a 5 point Likert scale. Following the Likert responses were five multiple choice questions and one open-ended question. The questions included in the survey, based on the results table (Galotti, 1995, pg. 471), revolve around four attributes found to be important in the process of college choice and include academic, institutional, financial, and personal/social factors as the basis for this survey and a guide to this research.

The survey, although original, is established through the research findings of Galotti (1995) and Locke (1982). The methodology from the Galotti study incorporated high school students describing their college decision process at one or more sessions toward the end of their high school years using a sequential longitudinal design (Galotti,

1995). Students involved in each session "described their thinking and experiences in choosing a college, both through open-ended questions and structured items"; students then rated and assigned weights to alternative factors for a goodness of fit (Galotti, 1995, p. 464). The study by Locke (1982) offered guidance and structure to the methodology by providing one of the earliest studies on the college choice of music majors and general characteristics which guide music majors' choices. Although no interviews were conducted, Locke's (1982) study surveyed, through a 43 question 7 point Likert scale, 631 music majors attending 22 private and public universities during the fall of 1981 in the state of Illinois.

The survey, checked for a variety of issues by professionals in the field, included parallel construction of the question and the corresponding scale, clarity in the wording of questions, content of the survey, alignment with the research question, alignment with the literature review information, and alignment with the Institutional Review Board (IRB) application. Changes made to the initial survey based on suggestions included adding a short answer comment section due to the chance a strong influence in college choice was not covered in the Likert response questions; shortening the total amount of questions included in the survey to allow the student to complete the survey in a more timely manner; and including a specific institutional question regarding the quality of the facilities on campus.

Following the distribution and collection of the survey, those students offering consent were then asked six follow-up questions either face-to-face or over the phone within one month of completing the survey. Discussion of the interview questions lasted approximately seven minutes in length and were intended to be open-ended allowing for

possible factors and student perceptions which may not have been included or asked in the initial survey. Consistencies and variations between the survey and interview may allow a better understanding of the decision making process students undertake as well as a better understanding between the differences in the factors which spark interest compared to those that lead to enrollment (Galotti & Mark, 1994). With each interview question, the researcher was interested in determining the initial attraction of the university that initiated the students' interest, the process they used to narrow their search of institution, factors that may have deterred them from choosing an institution, other possible school options, institutional factors important in their search, and personal/social factors important in their college choice.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Ho: There will be no difference in proportion of participants in agreement with statements concerning the importance of factors regarding choice of college, when comparing responses for each individual question on the administered survey between public school choice and private school choice.

Ha: There will be a difference in proportion of participants in agreement with statements concerning the importance of factors regarding choice of college, when comparing responses for each individual question on the administered survey between public school choice and private school choice.

1. To what extent do academic factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university? (e.g. academic challenge, admissions requirements, course offerings, faculty quality, majors offered, reputation/accreditation, school regulations, success of graduates, type of school)

Ho_{1a}: There is no difference in proportion between positive views of academic factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha_{1a}: There is a difference in proportion between positive views of academic factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

 ${
m Ho_{1b}}$: Choice of college setting is independent of academic factors described on the survey.

Ha_{1b}: Choice of college setting is not independent of academic factors described on the survey.

2. To what extent do institutional factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university? (e.g. campus appearance, campus atmosphere, class size, dorms, extracurricular programs, facilities, location, physical setting, size)

 Ho_{2a} : There is no difference in proportion between positive views of institutional factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha_{2a}: There is a difference in proportion between positive views of institutional factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ho_{2b}: Choice of college setting is independent of institutional factors described on the survey.

 ${\rm Ha_{2b}}$: Choice of college setting is not independent of institutional factors described on the survey.

3. To what extent do financial factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university? (e.g. cost, financial aid)

 Ho_{3a} : There is no difference in proportion between positive views of financial factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha_{3a}: There is a difference in proportion between positive views of financial factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ho_{3b}: Choice of college setting is independent of financial factors described on the survey.

Ha_{3b}: Choice of college setting is not independent of financial factors described on the survey.

4. To what extent do personal/social factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university? (e.g. distance from home, parents'/friends' advice, peers/friends at school, social networking.)

 Ho_{4a} : There is no difference in proportion between positive views of personal factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha_{4a}: There is a difference in proportion between positive views of personal factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ho_{4b}: Choice of college setting is independent of personal/social factors described on the survey.

Ha_{4b}: Choice of college setting is not independent of personal/social factors described on the survey.

5. Does the achievement level of entering music major students indicate differences in college selection?

 ${
m Ho}_{5a}$: There is no difference in proportion between entering achievement level with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha_{5a}: There is a difference in proportion between entering achievement level with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ho_{5b}: Choice of college setting is independent of achievement level.

Ha_{5b}: Choice of college setting is not independent of achievement level.

6. Do the factors influencing the college choice of music majors vary between genders?

Ho₆: There is no difference in proportion between genders on importance of factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha₆: There is a difference in proportion between genders on importance of factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

7. Do the factors influencing the college choice vary by type of institution (e.g. public vs. private)?

Ho₇: There is no difference in proportion between type of institution with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Ha₇: There is a difference in proportion between type of institution with regard to music majors' choice of institution

Data Collection

Information for this study was gathered through a 31-question survey followed by a six-question interview conducted at a later date (within one month of completing the survey). Responses from the survey and interviews were stored in a locked file cabinet within the researcher's office. Data was entered onto the researcher's computer via an excel spreadsheet which was located in the researcher's locked office.

An informational letter obtaining the students' written consent to conduct the survey and interview was collected at the time of the survey for those students who wished to participate. Each survey, coded by institution prior to distribution, was placed

at the teacher workstation of each theory classroom upon completion. Those students agreeing to an interview provided a contact number or email address in the space provided at the bottom of the survey. The researcher identified those students who agreed to participate in a follow up interview and contacted these students at a later date to arrange a specific day and time to conduct the interview. The researcher did not include any names during the interview and all personal information was removed from the interview sessions.

Data Analysis

Upon receiving the surveys from the four universities, the data was reviewed, placed into an excel file for analyzing, and separated based on those students which agreed to an interview and those that did not. Analysis for this survey included six statistical tests; a weighted mean was analyzed to distinguish if an observable difference of .2 was evident in the average difference between groups or universities on similar questions. An observable difference of .2 signified there was likely a statistical difference in answers to necessitate discussion. Any weighted mean over 3.0 signified there was a general positive response to the question. The second test, a *z*-test for proportion, allowed the researcher to observe the percentage of students answering a specific Likert response. This allowed the researcher to view which questions students responded as positively or negatively overall.

The third test, a *z*-test for difference in proportion, allowed the researcher to compare the proportion and either reject or accept the null hypothesis concerning a measureable difference in the importance of each factor considered. A *z*-test for difference in proportion allowed the researcher to compare groups of students from one

question to another and distinguish if certain schools (public/private) answered similarly while the Chi-square test for independence tested the likelihood an attribute influenced their decision. The Chi-square test also gave an overall look at group proportions represented by the survey responses. Due to the relationship between attribute and college choice established by the Chi-square test, the *z*-test allowed a closer look at individual questions. The *z*-test for difference in proportion also allowed an analysis of data that was not normally distributed. All surveys were axial coded when analyzed qualitatively.

Frequency tables were completed for each survey question from the four groups they were administered to: public university 1, public university 2, private university 1, and private university 2. A calculated weighted average for each question as well as the weighted average for each group was tabulated. A statistical analysis was not applied due to the lack of instances where the differences were notable. The overall weighted averages were also compared to allow the researcher to observe differences in overall group responses from one university to another.

The frequency tables were then changed into proportions, allowing the researcher to view responses from each student for every question within the four groups. This allowed an observation of any differences/similarities for the proportion of students responding in agreement from group to group for each question. The researcher also combined the proportion of students responding with a 4 or 5 for each question from each group. The tables were rearranged to allow the researcher to calculate proportions in agreement (answering a 4 or 5) for each question based on school affiliation, allowing an observation of responses comparing public and private universities. A *z*-test for

difference in proportions was then applied to questions based on school size simply for discussion purposes which will be addressed in Chapter 5.

Demographics

This section represents the demographics of the sample and includes information regarding the gender and instrument/vocal choice from the surveyed students to compare to general populations and previous research. Instrument/vocal emphasis is not typically considered a student demographic, but due to research from Locke (1982) that identified area of emphasis (instrument or vocal) as a subgroup influenced by contrary factors; this researcher included it as a student demographic which may offer insight and guidance on the factors influencing school choice based on their instrument or voice. The demographics of the respondents are identified in Table 4.

Table 4
Survey Respondents by Demographic Information

Demographic Information	n	%	
Gender			
Male	43	51.2	
Female	41	48.8	
Area of Emphasis			
Wind Instrument	28	33.3	
String Instrument	7	8.3	
Percussion	13	15.4	
Vocalist	28	33.3	
Piano	5	5.9	

Each university possessed certain traits and demographic information which may have some influence on the final results. Private university 1 is located in a small rural area with four full time music faculty. Private university 2 is located in a suburban area

with five full time music faculty. Public university 1 is located in a rural area with 19 full time faculty and public university 2 is located in an urban area with 9 full time faculty.

Out of 88 total surveys distributed throughout four institutions, 84 surveys were collected and reviewed as data for this study. Within the surveys collected, 81 were fully completed while three surveys lacked a response to a single question. In this case, all three students left question 30, referring to their area of emphasis, blank. From the 84 surveys collected, 41 respondents (48%) agreed to a follow up interview. While 41 respondents agreed to an interview, n=19 (46.3%) responded to the researcher's correspondence and completed the interview portion. All students participating in the interview completed each question.

Survey Distribution

The percentage of male to female students distributed fairly even, however the emphasis area fell heavily on the side of total wind instruments and vocalists (66.6%). The smallest percentage of students, those majoring in piano, captured just fewer than 6% of the total music major population for this survey (5.9%). The proportion of wind instrument/vocalist attending the researched institutions was similar between universities with the exception of private university 1 which was predominantly occupied by those claiming wind instruments as their area of emphasis (54.5%). The distribution of public to private students majoring in music divided somewhat evenly as well with n=41 (48.8%) attending a private school while the other n=43 (52.2%) attending a public university. This was by design as the researcher chose public and private universities with comparable enrollments and majors to provide an accurate account of the college choice process.

Interview Procedures

Upon completion of the survey, students were invited to participate in a follow up interview by providing a phone number or email address as correspondence. Those students listing a phone number were initially contacted by phone within one week of completing the survey. The students listing their email address were also contacted within one week to set up a time to conduct the phone interview. All interviews were finalized within three weeks of completing the survey. When possible, interviews were conducted face-to-face in place of the phone interview. Due to access, all interviews with private university 2 students were conducted face-to-face. Table 5 provides the demographics of those students participating in the interview.

Table 5
Interview Respondents by Demographic Information

Demographic Information	Public u. 1	Public u. 2	Private u. 1	Private u. 2
Gender				
Male	0	0	0	3
Female	0	2	1	13
Area of Emphasis				
Wind Instrument	0	1	0	4
String Instrument	0	0	0	2
Percussion	0	0	0	2
Vocalist	0	1	0	8
Piano	0	0	1	0

Human Subjects

The researcher applied several safety measures to ensure data was kept private and confidential. Consent to obtain data from all researched universities was gained through the university IRB or through department approval if the university did not have a review board. Once data was obtained from the universities, it was input into an

institutional computer and stored. Data did not transfer out of the researcher's office upon analysis.

Summary

This research utilized a mixed method analysis using surveys and interviews. The intent of this research and the research method was to provide data to further the understanding between music majors and the choice of institution to which they enrolled, including a comparison of those factors. Chapter 4 will examine the data obtained in the study including a brief overview, analysis information of the sample in relation to the research questions, and comparison data based on demographic variables. Chapter 5 will present a discussion of those findings beginning with a summary, interpretation, and recommendations for future research.

Chapter Four: Data

Background

As stated earlier, this study used an original survey based on the study of real life decision-making (Galotti, 1995) and the factors influencing music majors' choice of institution (Locke, 1982). Students were asked about several topics related to college choice including academic, institutional, social, and financial factors, as well as demographic information to help establish which, if any influences were imperative in the student's college choice. This study surveyed specific institutions in the surrounding eastern side of Missouri and Western side of Illinois.

Survey Results

The following data represented the information collected through the Likert response surveys for each question; included is the weighted mean, proportion, *z*-test for difference in proportion, and chi-square test for independence. The weighted mean scores included in Table 5 demonstrate the total average response to each question. Due to the five point Likert response and for purposes of this study, an answer above three signifies a positive response to the question and any observable differences greater than 0.2 will be discussed in Chapter 5. All university participants rated question number 4 regarding the quality of the music faculty and question number 20 related to the influence of financial aid/scholarship high (at or above 4.0).

The response proportion to each question is listed below in Tables 6-9 by university. A response with a proportion of 40.0 or higher for each question, for purposes of this study, is worthy of discussion due to the high percentage of participants who answered positively and will be discussed in Chapter 6.

Table 6
Weighted Mean Score

Question	Public university 1	Public university 2	Private university 1	Private university 2
1	3.2	4.0	3.3	3.3
2	3.1	3.0	3.4	3.1
3	4.0	4.8	3.5	4.0
4	4.6	4.9	4.5	4.0
5	4.3	4.1	4.0	3.9
6	3.8	4.0	3.7	3.8
7	2.2	2.3	2.5	3.1
8	3.5	2.5	2.6	3.5
9	2.7	2.4	3.4	3.3
10	3.2	2.9	3.8	3.9
11	3.4	3.4	4.1	4.0
12	3.5	4.0	3.5	4.5
13	2.8	3.5	2.3	3.7
14	3.1	3.5	3.6	3.7
15	3.8	3.6	3.8	3.9
16	4.1	3.5	3.7	4.3
17	3.2	3.2	2.8	3.6
18	3.2	3.6	3.1	3.9
19	4.3	4.4	3.7	3.7
20	4.3	4.7	4.6	4.5
21	4.4	3.3	3.0	4.0
23	3.2	3.1	2.6	3.4
24	2.8	2.9	1.7	2.7
25	1.8	1.2	1.0	1.6
Total	3.4	3.5	3.3	3.6

Table 7

Public University 1 Proportions

Question	1	2	3	4	5
1	6.1	9.1	48.5	27.3	9.1
2	18.2	9.1	30.3	27.3	15.2
3	3.0	0.0	18.2	48.5	30.3
4	0.0	0.0	6.1	30.3	63.6
5	0.0	3.1	12.5	31.3	53.1
6	0.0	15.2	30.3	18.2	36.4
7	30.3	33.3	30.3	3.0	3.0
8	15.2	15.2	12.1	24.2	33.3
9	30.3	18.2	18.2	18.2	15.2
10	9.1	15.2	36.4	27.3	12.1
11	3.0	12.1	36.4	36.4	12.1
12	12.5	9.4	18.8	37.5	21.9
13	33.3	6.1	24.2	18.2	18.2
14	12.1	21.2	24.2	27.3	15.2
15	6.1	9.1	21.2	27.3	36.4
16	6.1	3.0	24.2	6.1	60.6
17	21.2	6.1	27.3	27.3	18.2
18	12.1	15.2	24.2	39.4	9.1
19	3.0	3.0	15.2	21.2	57.6
20	6.1	3.0	9.1	15.2	66.7
21	3.0	0.0	9.1	27.3	60.6
23	18.2	15.2	18.2	21.2	27.3
24	21.9	21.9	21.9	18.8	15.6
25	56.3	18.8	15.6	3.1	6.3

Table 7 displays the results from the survey as reported by students from public university 1. Public university 1 participants demonstrated seven responses with a total

positive response rate above 40%. Many of the positive responses occurred on questions regarding academic and financial aspects of the college choice.

Table 8

Public University 2 Proportions

Public University 2 Proportions							
Question	1	2	3	4	5		
1	0.0	0.0	30.0	40.0	30.0		
2	30.0	10.0	20.0	10.0	30.0		
3	0.0	0.0	0.0	20.0	80.0		
4	0.0	0.0	0.0	10.0	90.0		
5	10.0	0.0	10.0	30.0	50.0		
6	0.0	0.0	30.0	40.0	30.0		
7	30.0	10.0	60.0	0.0	0.0		
8	20.0	30.0	30.0	20.0	0.0		
9	40.0	20.0	10.0	20.0	10.0		
10	10.0	30.0	30.0	20.0	10.0		
11	0.0	20.0	30.0	40.0	10.0		
12	0.0	10.0	20.0	30.0	40.0		
13	20.0	10.0	10.0	20.0	40.0		
14	20.0	0.0	20.0	30.0	30.0		
15	10.0	10.0	20.0	30.0	30.0		
16	20.0	10.0	20.0	0.0	50.0		
17	20.0	0.0	30.0	40.0	10.0		
18	0.0	10.0	40.0	30.0	20.0		
19	10.0	0.0	10.0	0.0	80.0		
20	0.0	10.0	0.0	0.0	90.0		
21	30.0	10.0	0.0	20.0	40.0		
23	10.0	20.0	30.0	30.0	10.0		
24	20.0	30.0	10.0	20.0	20.0		
25	80.0	20.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		

Table 9

Private University 1 Proportions

Question	1	2	3	4	5
1	9.1	18.2	18.2	45.5	9.1
2	9.1	9.1	27.3	45.5	9.1
3	0.0	18.2	27.3	45.5	9.1
4	0.0	0.0	9.1	36.4	54.5
5	0.0	9.1	18.2	36.4	36.4
6	0.0	9.1	18.2	63.6	9.1
7	18.2	27.3	45.5	0.0	9.1
8	18.2	36.4	18.2	18.2	9.1
9	20.0	0.0	30.0	20.0	30.0
10	9.1	0.0	18.2	45.5	27.3
11	0.0	0.0	36.4	18.2	45.5
12	9.1	27.3	0.0	27.3	36.4
13	27.3	18.2	54.5	0.0	0.0
14	9.1	18.2	9.1	27.3	36.4
15	9.1	9.1	9.1	36.4	36.4
16	9.1	9.1	18.2	27.3	36.4
17	18.2	27.3	27.3	9.1	18.2
18	18.2	18.2	18.2	27.3	18.2
19	0.0	27.3	18.2	9.1	45.5
20	0.0	0.0	9.1	18.2	72.7
21	36.4	18.2	0.0	0.0	45.5
23	18.2	36.4	18.2	18.2	9.1
24	54.5	27.3	9.1	9.1	0.0
25	100.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0

Table 10

Private University 2 Proportions

Question	1	2	3	4	5
1	6.7	16.7	23.3	50.0	3.3
2	13.3	16.7	20.0	43.3	6.7
3	0.0	6.7	23.3	30.0	40.0
4	16.7	3.3	6.7	13.3	60.0
5	20.0	3.3	0.0	16.7	60.0
6	6.7	3.3	16.7	50.0	23.3
7	16.7	13.3	26.7	33.3	10.0
8	13.3	3.3	30.0	23.3	30.0
9	10.0	20.0	30.0	13.3	26.7
10	6.7	6.7	10.0	43.3	33.3
11	6.7	3.3	10.0	40.0	40.0
12	3.3	0.0	10.0	16.7	70.0
13	10.0	3.3	23.3	36.7	26.7
14	6.7	13.3	16.7	33.3	30.0
15	6.7	0.0	26.7	33.3	33.3
16	3.3	0.0	16.7	26.7	53.3
17	10.0	13.3	10.0	40.0	26.7
18	3.3	0.0	30.0	36.7	30.0
19	3.3	6.7	33.3	30.0	26.7
20	0.0	3.3	6.7	23.3	66.7
21	6.7	6.7	10.0	30.0	46.7
23	10.0	10.0	30.0	30.0	20.0
24	30.0	23.3	10.0	16.7	20.0
25	66.7	16.7	10.0	6.7	0.0

Table 8 lists the proportions for public university 2. Public university 2 students responded to 13 questions with at least a 40% positive response rate. Public university 2 participants also answered very positively to academic and financial questions, but also

responded highly to institutional factors, when compared to responses from public university 1.

Private university 1 student responses are tabulated in Table 9 and identify 10 questions with more than 40% positive responses. Private university 1 students also responded more favorably to academic and financial aspects influencing college choice compared to social networking and institutional attributes.

Private university 2 students, displayed in Table 9, demonstrated the most positive responses compared to all other private and public universities participating in the survey with 13 questions receiving a 40% positive response. Although public university 2 and private university 2 both responded to 13 questions positively, private university 2 rated one question (question 11) positively on two separate Likert responses resulting in a total positive proportion of 80%.

Difference in Proportion of Agreement

The null hypothesis for all examined survey responses states: There will be no difference in proportion of participants in agreement with statements concerning the importance of factors regarding choice of college, when comparing responses for each individual question on the administered survey between public school choice and private school choice.

Table 11 shows the results for *z*-tests for difference of proportion in agreement between both private universities compared to both public universities, for each individual question in the survey. The *z*-test scores show four questions (7, 10, 11, and 19) which individually reject the null hypothesis, which stated that there would be no

difference in proportion of agreement when comparing public university responses to private university responses.

Table 11

Public vs. Private z-test for Difference of Proportion in Agreement

Question	Private	Public	z-test score
1	53.7	44.2	0.867922
2	51.2	41.9	0.857528
3	65.9	83.7	-1.6371
4	78.0	95.3	-1.58513
5	75.6	81.4	-0.53011
6	73.2	58.1	1.377241
7	34.1	4.7	2.702511
8	46.3	48.8	-0.22867
9	43.9	32.6	1.039427
10	75.6	37.2	3.518462
11	75.6	48.8	2.453049
12	80.5	60.5	1.834589
13	46.3	41.9	0.410574
14	63.4	46.5	1.548747
15	68.3	62.8	0.504122
16	75.6	62.8	1.174553
17	56.1	46.5	0.878316
18	61.0	48.8	1.112187
19	56.1	79.1	-2.10484
20	90.2	83.7	0.597671
21	68.3	81.4	-1.20054
23	43.9	46.5	-0.23907
24	29.3	34.9	-0.51452
25	4.9	7.0	-0.19229

All other responses to individual questions failed to reject the null hypothesis, so for those questions there was no significant difference in positive response to factors relating to college choice. Further discussion follows in Chapter 5.

Research Question Explanation and Analysis

This section will discuss the data based on the summarized research results.

Research question one: "To what extent do academic factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university"? (e.g. academic challenge, admissions requirements, course offerings, faculty quality, majors offered, reputation/accreditation, school regulations, success of graduates, type of school). The null hypothesis for this question was: There is no difference in proportion between positive views of academic factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

Research Question One

The total weighted mean average to research question one regarding academic factors resulted in an average response of 3.49 when all four university scores were included, indicating a positive response to academic factors influence the music major college choice decision. Questions 1-9 in the survey inquired into the academic influence a student is faced with in making the college decision. Within the nine questions involving academic influence, several university responses fell outside of the researcher established 0.2 threshold in both positive and negative responses from one university to another and will be discussed further in Chapter 5.

A Chi-Square test for independence was applied to determine if any trends existed in the data as a whole, regardless of attribute, using both mean averages and proportion of agreement for comparison. The null hypothesis stated: Choice of college setting is

independent of academic factors described on the survey. The critical value for both tests was 90.531. With a test value of 3.109692 for the chi-square test utilizing means, the researcher accepts the null hypothesis. The Chi-Square test utilizing proportions resulted in a test value of 324.1585 for comparison of individual schools and a test value of 119.961 when grouped by size or affiliation and therefore the null hypothesis was rejected for each of those cases. Results are summarized in Table 15.

Questions 8 and 9 relating to academic factors resulted in split results with two universities separated by a weighted mean average of one full point. Question 8 resulted in a split weighted mean average with one public and one private universities weighted response rate at 3.5 while the other two (one public, one private) averaged a 2.5 and a 2.6 resulting in a full one point difference in weighted mean response. Question 9 was also split with both public schools averaging a 2.55 response and both private schools averaging a 3.35 response. Since the average on questions 8 and 9 was equally split, a baseline weighted mean response could not be established to determine if any single university response fell outside the researcher established observable .2 threshold, however the point difference between public and private schools will be discussed.

The total weighted mean for all questions regarding academic factors for public university 1 resulted in a 3.48 average on questions 1-9. The proportion of students answering more than 40% positively is included in Table 5 and shows three questions (questions 3, 4, and 5) with over a 40% positive response rate for later discussion.

Public university 2 resulted in an average response rate of 3.55 for academic factor related questions 1-9. Three questions resulted in above average weighted mean responses. Question 1 resulted in a difference of .7 compared to the next highest average

while questions 3 and 4 earned a positive .3 difference when compared to the next highest average. The proportion of public university 2 students answering each question with over a 40% positive response rate occurred on 5 questions (questions 1, 3, 4, 5, and 6).

Private university 1 averaged a 3.4 weighted response rate with two questions outside the observable norm. Question 2 averaged .3 higher than the other university responses and question 3 was the lowest at 3.5 or .5 lower than the closest average. The proportion of private university 1 students answering at least 40% positive occurred on 5 questions (questions 1, 2, 3, 4, and 6). Private university 2 averaged a weighted mean score of 3.55 with two observable differences. Question 4 resulted in the lowest average at 4.0 (.5 lower than the next highest score) and question 7 averaged .7 higher than the other three schools at 3.1. The z-test for difference in proportion is shown in Table 10 for questions 1-9. Although question 7 individually rejects the null hypothesis, the overall data led the researcher to not reject the null hypothesis for an overall view of academic factors.

The null hypothesis for the Chi-square test for independence regarding academic factors state choice of college setting is independent of academic attributes described on the survey. With a critical value of 36.415 and a test value of 133.4082 for comparison of individual school results and a test value of 64.41528 when grouped by school affiliation, this data led the researcher to reject the null hypothesis. There is a significant difference in positive view of the importance of academic factors in college choice.

Research Question Two

The second research question asked to what extent institutional factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university (e.g. campus appearance,

campus atmosphere, class size, dorms, extracurricular programs, facilities, location, physical setting, size). The null hypothesis for this question was: There is no difference in proportion between positive views of institutional factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution. The total weighted mean average to the second research question regarding institutional factors resulted in an average response of 3.55 when all four university scores on questions 10-18 were calculated, indicating an overall positive response that institutional factors influence the music major college choice. All questions except two regarding institutional factors resulted in split averages, with two universities within the .2 researcher established threshold from each other, but more than .2 away from the other two universities. Public university 1 students produced one of two exceptions with a weighted mean average of 3.1 (.3 less than the other three universities) on question 14 while producing a total institutional average of 3.4. The proportions for public university 1 yielded one question (question 16) with a percentage above 40%.

Public university 2 participants earned an institutional average of 3.5 with all responses within .2 of at least one other university with the exception of question 12 being .5 away from the next highest and .5 away from the next lowest score. The proportion of students answering more than 40% positive occurred on five questions listed in Table 7 (question 11, 12, 13, 16, and 17).

Private university 1 respondents produced a total weighted average of 3.4 when all institutional attributes were averaged producing only one response (question 17) more than .2 away from the other three universities. Private university 1 students also demonstrated in two institutional responses (question 10 and 11) more than 40% positive while private university 2 resulted in six positive responses (question 10, 11, 12, 16, and

17). Private university 2 also incurred the highest weighted mean average at 3.9 for all institutional attributes.

Results from the *z*-test for difference in proportion in agreement is shown in Table 11 for questions 10-18 and indicates results that led the researcher to not reject the null hypothesis with the exception of questions 10 and 11 regarding campus appearance and campus atmosphere.

The Chi-square test for independence regarding institutional factors resulted in split results. The null hypothesis stated: Choice of college setting is independent of institutional factors described in the survey. A critical value of 36.415 and a test value of 101.5368 resulted in the researcher rejecting the null hypothesis based on comparison of individual schools; however, a test value of 19.14359 when grouped by school size or private/public affiliation led the researcher to not reject the null hypothesis. Choice of college setting in is not independent of institutional attributes stated on the survey.

Research Question Three

To what extent do financial factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university? (e.g. cost, financial aid) The null hypothesis for this question was: There is no difference in proportion between positive views of financial factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

The total weighted mean average to the third research question regarding financial factors resulted in an average response of 4.3 when all four university scores on questions 19-20 were calculated, indicating an overall positive response. Three of the four averaged university responses fell within the established .2 threshold of each other with the exception of public university 2 which resulted in .3 higher than the next highest score.

The proportions for each financial question in the survey all resulted in above 40% responses with the exception of private university 2 on question 19. Question 19 relates to how cost influences their decision while question 20 refers to scholarship. The *z*-test for difference in proportion in agreement is shown on Table 11 for questions 19-20; indicating results that allowed the researcher rejected the null hypothesis.

The Chi-square test for independence with regard to financial factors resulted in mixed results. The null hypothesis stated: Choice of college setting is independent of financial factors described on the survey. With a critical value of 7.815 and a test value of 14.33479 financial factors on an individual school basis led the researcher to reject the null hypothesis. When grouped together by size or affiliation, financial factors resulted in a test score of 7.714828 which rejects the null hypothesis.

Research Question Four

To what extent do personal/social factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university? (e.g. distance from home, parents/friends advice, peers/friends at school, social networking.) The hypothesis for this question is there is no difference in proportion between positive views of personal factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution.

The total weighted mean average to the fourth research question regarding personal/social factors resulted in an average response of 3.12 when all four university scores on questions 21, 23-24 were averaged indicating an overall positive response. The weighted mean average for public university 1 resulted in a 3.5 response with question 21 at .4 higher than the next closest score. Question 21 (referring to distance from home) also resulted in the only personal/social proportion with a 40% positive response rate for

each public and private university. Public university 2 earned a 3.1 weighted average while private university 1 earned the lowest with a 2.5 and private university 2, the second highest with a 3.4. The *z*-test for difference of proportion in agreement is shown on Table 10 for questions 21, 23, and 24, indicating the results that allowed the researcher to not reject the null hypothesis. Question 21 related to how distance influenced choice, question 23 related to parents or friends advice, and question 24 asked if peers or friends already attending the institution influenced choice.

The Chi-square test for independence with regard to personal/social factors resulted in a mixed result. The null hypothesis stated: Choice of college setting is independent of personal/social factors described on the survey. With a critical value of 12.592 and a test value of 33.3316 personal/social factors on an individual school basis led the researcher to reject the null hypothesis. When grouped together by size or affiliation, personal/social factors resulted in a test score of 10.80191 the researcher did not reject the null hypothesis.

Research Question Five

Does the achievement level of entering music major students indicate differences in college selection? The hypothesis for this question is that there is no difference in proportion between entering achievement level with regard to music majors' choice of institution. Table 12 displays the frequency of responses given for the cumulative high school grade point average of the surveyed freshmen music majors from private institutions and public institutions.

A Chi-square test for independence was applied and no difference was found between entering achievement levels ($\alpha = 0.05$; p = 0.266). The null hypothesis was:

Choice of college setting is independent of achievement level. Therefore, the researcher did not reject the null hypothesis as shown in Table 12.

Table 12

Student GPA Private vs. Public

 Similar of the vice vis. I movie						
	4.0-	3.4-	2.9-	2.4-	Below	
Affiliation	3.5	3.0	2.5	2.0	2.0	
Private	17	14	9	0	0	
Public	23	12	7	0	0	

Note: P value equals 0.2668 compared to alpha =.05

with 1 degrees of freedom

Research Question Six

Do the factors influencing the college choice of music majors vary between genders? The hypothesis for this question was there is no difference in proportion between genders on importance of factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution. Table 13 provides evidence of average response rate to each factor of choice by gender.

Table 13

Total Averaged Likert Responses by Gender

Gender		•		Personal/social
Female	3.61	3.64	4.58	3.15
Male	3.38	3.39	3.92	3

Research Question Seven

Do the factors influencing the college choice vary by type of institution (e.g. public vs. private)? The hypothesis was there is no difference in proportion between genders on importance of factors with regard to music majors' choice of institution. As evident by Table 11, two questions (question 7 and 10) related to academic factors, one question (question 11) related to the institutional factors, and one question (question 19)

within the category of financial factors did vary by type of institution leading the researcher to reject the null hypothesis.

Interview Questions and Responses

A secondary component to the dissertation involved a qualitative interview and aimed to discover which factors lead students to enroll in their final institution. The interview questions are listed in Appendix A with the survey. The responses to the interview questions were coded by the researcher and placed into like responses based on each attribute identified by Galotti (1995) as important in the college choice. For example, if a student answered "faculty" to question 1, that response would be classified as an academic attribute.

Table 14
Summarized Results to Interview Questions

Question	Academic	Institutional	Financial	Personal/Social
1	16	3	1	4
2	9	4	10	3
3	8	4	3	5
4	11	2	4	2
5	0	17	0	1
6	0	0	0	15

Note: n=19

A general summary of the responses are listed in Table 14 and will be discussed further in Chapter 5. Some students responded with multiple reasons for attending their institution of choice resulting in more than 19 responses for certain questions and will be addressed. Four students answered no to question 6 when asked if any personal/social factors influenced their decision therefore less than 19 responses occurred on question 4.

The Chi-square test in Table 15 summarized the critical value and test value for the mean and proportion. Based on the critical and test value, the data indicates choice of college did not necessarily depend on institutional, financial, and personal/social factors.

Academic factors however, were likely to influence college choice as shown in Table 15.

Table 15

Chi-Square Results

Test	Critical value	Individual attribute value	Test value
Total Mean	90.531	3.10969	
Total Proportion	90.531	324.159	119.961
Academic	36.415	133.408	64.4153
Institutional	36.415	101.537	19.1436
Financial	7.815	14.3348	7.71483
Personal/social	12.592	33.3316	10.8019

Interview Results

The interview portion of the research offered a qualitative view of the college choice of music majors. The influences affecting students and the attributes they seek offer insight to individuals involved in the choice processes. The first question during the interview process, the researcher asked; "What initially attracted you to (attending institution) as a possible university you might want to attend"? The purpose for this question is to get an idea as to which characteristics may draw students to initially consider a school. When coded by the researcher, an overwhelming response reported academic influences as the primary consideration attracting them to their school of choice. Out of the total n= 19 students responding, 16 reported academic influences initially attracted them to the school they ended up attending. Out of those 16 academic responses, 10 specifically pointed out faculty or reputation of the department/faculty as

the main factor. The next highest response was availability of their major with four. Of the 10 students responding with faculty, eight of those students specifically pointed out that it was the act of a faculty member contacting them or reaching out to express interest and wanting them to tour the school. While faculty seemed to play the biggest role in initial attraction, personal/social factors were a distant second with four students responding personal/social factors initially lead them to their school.

Personal/social factors seemed to condense down to one influential characteristic, "the school was close to home." Even though personal/social factors contained more characteristics than distance from home, the initial attraction for the music majors interviewed is that it was "close enough to drive but far enough to be on my own." The next highest response rate with three students answering fell under institutional characteristics and more specifically it fell under campus appearance as initially attracting them to the campus. Of the four factors important in the college choice, according to Galotti (1995), three of these were answered at least three times with the exception of financial. Only one student responded with the financial reason of a scholarship as initially attracting them to the institution. These findings are consistent with Locke's (1982) research since scholarship is typically an influence leading to final enrollment rather than initial interest.

According to Locke (1982), financial obligations are not considered one of the top five factors influencing choice. Locke (1982) also found in his research that the top three factors influencing choice are reputation of the department, location allows the student to live at home and commute, and reputation of the faculty. Locke's (1982) findings fit very well with this researcher's interview findings which determined initial interest and

student choice are highly influenced by academic attributes such as reputation and institutional attributes such as location.

Interview question 2 asked; "How did you narrow down your decision to attend (attending institution)"? The purpose of question 2 was to determine which factors influenced the choice process and ultimately what was the final factor leading them to choose the university they did. The interview results for question 2 were split among two attributes. Financial factors comprised 10 responses while academic factors were still highly regarded with nine responses. Institutional attributes totaled four responses while personal/social garnered three responses. Due to the almost equal response rate of financial and academic factors, it is difficult to decipher one main attribute as the final distinguishing result from the interview. Within the academic responses to question 2, only three of the academic responses regarded availability of the degree/major offered as the determining factor. All other academic factors given in the interview were in regards to the faculty as a deciding factor in the student's choice.

The financial answers are all similar in that scholarship was listed as the deciding factor, however after speaking with them further; it appears that the students view cost of the university and scholarship offered with little disparity between the two. If scholarship was given as an answer, the researcher asked if that was more important than cost and many of them viewed cost of the university as the cost after scholarship with little importance placed on the sticker price of the school. This may lend credence as to why many students did not list the financial attributes as initially attracting them to their chosen university. Perhaps this would vary if community college students were included in the survey. Out of the four institutional attributes listed as important narrowing down

their search, three of the four students listed location while one student commented class size was important to him. This same student however listed scholarship as more important in the decision. Ultimately, these interview findings aligned to the survey finding which distinguished the scholarship and faculty as the two main factors leading to final enrollment with the offer of a scholarship vitally important in the decision.

Interview question 3 asked; "Were there any factors that deterred you from attending a specific institution: If so, what were they?" The purpose of this question was to gain an understanding as to why the student attended their chosen university over another and if there might be something university faculty and staff can do to aid in the college choice process. Question 3 resulted in five students stating academic reasons while seven students listed institutional, three students listed financial and five students listed personal/social reasons for not attending a specific institution. Two students responded by saying "no" there were no other reasons that kept them from attending another institution, they had their mind set on one institution or they did not look into other options or another institution.

When considering all of the interview questions, question 3; "Were there any factors that deterred you from attending a specific institution" resulted in the largest mixture of responses. Although five students responded with academic attributes as a reason not to attend a specific university, those five responses were varied. Four of those responses were attributed to "quality of the music program" as a reason not to attend leaving one person to state the other school did not have her available major.

Interestingly to this researcher, only three people listed financial reasons, in this case cost, as a reason they did not attend a different school. All of the students listing

personal/social reasons for their school choice listed distance as the reason they did not attend another school. Similar to the survey, parents and peers were not listed as an influence to or not to attend an institution.

The fourth interview question asked; "If you did not attend (attending institution) where do you think you might have gone and why"? The main goal for this question was to determine if music majors valued the school affiliation enough to influence choice; will private school students attend another private institution regardless of any other attributes and vice versa for public school students. The public school students interviewed for this data all chose another public school to attend. One student claimed he would have attended an in-state public school while another chose an out of state public school.

The private school students were split. Out of a total of 17 private school students interviewed, five students said they would have attended an out-of-state public school, two said they would have attended an in-state public school, three students commented they would have attended an in-state private school, while three other students said they would have attended an out-of-state private school. Three students attending a private institution claimed they would have attended the community college due to financial reasons. Not one of the other private or public interviewees mentioned cost or financial reasons when answering why they might have gone to this other institution. For many of the students, personal/social factors and academic factors seemed to be the pivotal trends influencing their choice. According to their answers, the other college was either close to home and family, or they had the desired major and faculty with a good reputation. No students listed another school specifically because it was public or private.

Question 5 and question 6 provided a varied result as each question asked how a particular attribute influenced their decision. Question 5 asked; "Were there any institutional factors that influenced your university selection decision?" If so, please describe the influence. Question 6 asked; "Were there any personal/social factors, such as parents, friend's advice, or social networking that influenced your university selection decision? If so, please describe the influence". These questions were included by the researcher to specifically address the amount of influence these two attributes may carry in the college choice decision. Since much of the prior research, as well as the first three questions of this survey, described academic and financial reasons as main factors influencing choice (Cabrera & La Nasa, 2000; Dixon & Martin, 1991; Drewes & Michael, 2006), what specifically influenced the choices of music majors in these two areas mentioned?

Total responses for question 5 revealed 17 students answered institutional factors with two students answering no institutional factors influenced their school decision. Out of those 17 responses, the most recorded by students was facilities with seven responses. Appearance and class size both registered six responses while extra-curricular activities, specifically marching band as reported by the interviewees, garnered three responses and location with two responses. More than 17 responses were given due to multiple answers in the interview.

Question 6 was asked for one simple reason; Overmier (2003) came to the conclusion in his research that high school music teachers are very influential in the choice of major their students undertake, but carry little weight in their final college choice. For this study, high school faculty such as a band director or influential teacher

was only listed three times by students, signifying the students in this research do not consider the band director influential in the choice process and validates previous research by Overmier (2003).

Ludeman (1964) found the influence of friends as one of the five least influential factors affecting choice. If this is true, what if any, personal/social factors influence the college choice of music majors? According to the interview, friends are the number one personal/social influence in college choice. Out of 19 students, 10 students listed friends as their main personal/social influence leaving parents with the second most responses at seven. High school faculty was listed three times, and a college admissions visit was listed once as a personal/social influence. Four students responded by saying no personal/social influences had any bearing on their college choice.

One final component to the survey involved question 31 which was an openended question asking; what if any factors highly influenced your college choice that
were not mentioned in the survey? Although this question was slightly modified and
asked in the interview, it was designed to allow the student to provide a response if they
did not participate in the interview. Out of a total of 84 surveys collected, four students
completed this question. Three of the four students answering this question responded
with a personal/social response highly influenced their decision. The most common
personal factor related to a faculty member who invited them to a musical event while
one student commented "a family member attended the same institution." The other
responses to this question stated the school was accredited by the National Association of
Schools of Music (NASM) while another student said playing sports highly influenced
her decision. These answers are unique in that these are the only two student responses

where accreditation or sports were important to the music major. Every other student which responded to extracurricular activities influenced their decision referenced a musical activity such as marching band rather than a club or sport and while reputation was listed as important to several music majors in the interview, none of them specifically mentioned an accreditation highly influenced their school choice.

Summary

Based on the null hypotheses discussed in this chapter, these findings indicate several factors, both statistical and observable which help perceive the college choice trends of music majors. The intent of this data was to determine, not just which factors students value when deciding on a college, but which factors are valued the most by music majors. The results of this study established a significant difference in several of the attributes identified as important in the college choice and will be discussed in Chapter 5 along with recommendations for further research and recruitment ideas.

Chapter Five: Discussion and Recommendations

Overview

Research involving the college choice process and factors influencing college enrollment started in the 1970s and continue to this day (Chapman, 1981; Filter, 2010; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987; Locke, 1982; Overmier, 2003; Tierney, 1979). Much of the college choice research, instigated by Chapman (1981), focused on the general population. Although this data may be helpful to general college retention and recruitment, the specific choices music majors undertake in recent years is underdeveloped and lacking (Kelly, 1988; Locke, 1982; Overmier, 2003). With mixed results from various research regarding college choice by both the general population and music major population (Barnes & Mattson, 2010; Locke, 1982; Ludeman, 1964), and new methods to aid in the college choice process, this research set out to identify which factors are most sought after by today's music major.

The research questions guiding this study and the discussion of Chapter 5 were;

- 1. To what extent do academic factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university?
- 2. To what extent do institutional factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university?
- 3. To what extent do financial factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university?
- 4. To what extent do personal/social factors influence the decision of music majors to attend their chosen university?

- 5. Does the achievement level of entering music major students indicate differences in college selection?
- 6. Do the factors influencing the college choice of music majors vary between genders?
- 7. Do the factors influencing the college choice vary by type of institution? Many attributes are identified as variables influencing college choice (Chapman, 1981; Galotti, 1995; Hossler & Gallagher, 1987; Locke, 1982). This study used a mixture of those variables influencing college choice by Galotti (1995) for the first four questions and the factors influencing the music major's choice of institution by Locke (1982) for the last three research questions.

Discussion

This research contributed to the literature gap by expanding the degree of data available regarding the music major and the factors important in their college choice.

This research is augmented with the inference of social media's involvement through the survey as well as an interview portion to investigate a possible overarching theme to the single factors important in the music major's choice of institution. The interview portion took place at a later date and was open-ended with the goal for open discussion.

Academic

The data for this survey is broken down by attribute. Questions 1-9 in Appendix A related to academic influences according to Galotti (1995) and Galotti and Mark (1994). Any weighted mean differences greater than .2 according to Table 5, proportions answering over 40% on Tables 6-9, and z-test scores rejecting the null hypothesis on Table 10 will be discussed in order of university. For all academic survey responses,

responses from public university 1 fell within the .2 trend for all questions except question 8 which was split equally between schools. This gives credence to the idea that although academic factors are important to public university 1 students, they are no more or less important than they are to any other freshmen music major attending another public or private school. Public university 2 incurred the highest variance of responses outside .2 compared to the other universities. Survey question 1, 3, and 4, were all rated higher by a considerable margin in relation to the other universities' responses.

For survey question 1, students from public university 1 responded .7 higher than the next highest score indicating the academic challenge influenced their decision to attend that university at a greater rate than the other schools. According to Locke (1982) this would align with his findings if many of the respondents were string players; however, only one student claimed strings as his/her major instrument. Question 3 resulted in a mean score .8 higher for public university 1 than the next closest average. Question 3 referred to the course and curriculum offerings and suggests this attribute is more important for public university 1 students compared to the other three universities. This is unique because the four universities surveyed offered the same music degrees. This researcher believed this mean score may be slightly skewed due to the location and lack of music degrees in the communities surrounding public university 1.

The final question exceeding the .2 threshold related to the quality of the music faculty. This would hold true to previous studies stating wind and percussion students value the faculty and that the faculty does have some influence over their college decision (Locke, 1982; Ludeman, 1964). This research may vary slightly from previous studies; however, general student populations, as reviewed by Litten and Brodigan (1982), found

college faculty bore little influence on college choice, and most of that influence was toward the parents. This research found the opposite to be true. Although students from every school answered highly to this question, public school 2 answered .3 higher than the next closest school and .9 higher than the lowest average signifying the faculty at public university 2 did influence the decision of those students. Although public university 2 responses may be statistically higher than the other institutions, all schools rated this aspect high, and no observable area of emphasis seemed to value it more or less than another.

Private university 1 fell outside the .2 difference on two questions involving academic attributes. Survey question 2 asked how much did the admissions requirements influence your decision. Overall, the total responses were fairly low for this question, but private university 1 answered .3 higher than the next school leading the researcher to believe something about the admission requirements, either positive or negative, influenced the students to consider and choose this school compared to students attending the other schools. The admissions process was not studied for this research but further research regarding how the admissions process influences music majors may be needed. Many university music departments have to coordinate with and audition students for scholarship and acceptance into the program. Perhaps private university 1 allowed students to apply and check on their application process or financial aid status online influencing the process as reported by Galotti and Mark (1994).

Question 3 as reported by private university 1 is unique in that it is the only academic question to score considerably lower than the other schools. Private university 1 students responded with a total mean average of 3.5 to this question with the other two

universities at a 4.0 and public university 2 achieving a 4.8. This was the largest discrepancy achieved on any single question in the survey regardless of the overall positive response. This researcher believes private university 1 students may have recognized all four year institutions in their surrounding area offered similar degrees, therefore the course offerings and curriculum were similar in their choice set and factored little importance in this area.

Private university 2 also fell outside the .2 difference on two questions. Question 4, although rated high, resulted in the lowest of all four universities with a 4.0, a full .5 lower than the next highest score signifying the faculty played a less important role than the other schools. Considering both private universities and public university 1 have comparable full time faculty on staff, it is unusual to this researcher private university 2 is .5 lower. Private university two also achieved the highest score on question 7 with a 3.1, or .6 higher than the next school. Question 7 asked about the school policies and their influence on school choice. Although private university 2 reached a positive score with a 3.1, the other schools averaged a 2.35, making this the lowest overall response gathered for academic factors; signifying school policies do not influence many music majors in general terms. A response of 3.1 by private university 2 may require further study to determine and define exactly what school policies include and how they factor into school choice decisions.

The proportions for academic responses resulted in four questions with over 40% positive responses overall. Survey question 1, 3, and 4 all received very positive responses from every university signifying the academic challenge, course offerings, and quality of the music faculty was highly regarded by many of the music majors attending

the institutions. Public university 1, public university 2 and private university 2 all responded above 50% positively to question 5 stating the music degree offered was also important in their college choice. Question 3 resulted in a low response proportion by private university 1. This researcher believes, based on the interview, course offerings and the curriculum of the university is no less important to private university 1 students than any other university students but rather all universities in the search process held similar course offering, and, therefore, little importance was placed towards this attribute in determining the final choice. When factoring the interview data with the survey results, similar trends seem to occur. Academic attributes are the most reported attributes in the interview influencing initial interest and attraction in a university. Similar to the survey, many of these attributes received high proportions of student responses. Four students responded the availability of the major was key to determining where to start the college search. All of those students happened to claim music business as their major.

Question 2 and question 6 received over 40% positive responses from the private universities while receiving neutral to negative responses from the public universities suggesting the admissions process and reputation of the university was not influential to public university music majors. Questions 7, 8, and 9 did not receive proportions above 40% positive. The fact that question 9 did not receive more than a 30% positive response may elude a response to research question 7. Although the students may be unaware how the school's attributes influence their decision, the students claim not to concern themselves with type of institution (e.g. public or private) as a determining factor.

Institutional

Questions 10-18 all attributed to institutional influences. These institutional attributes included influences such as campus appearance, campus atmosphere, class size, dorms, extracurricular programs, location, and size to name a few. Questions 10, 11, 12, 13, 16, 17, and 18, however, were split leaving only one question to fall outside the .2 trend. Public university 1 responses fell outside the .2 trend on question 14 with a 3.1 or .4 behind the next closest school. The question asked "To what extent extracurricular programs influenced their decision?" While the other universities averaged a 3.6 between them, public university 1 fell just on the positive side of this question. The institutional attributes surveyed supplied the researcher with interesting results. Out of the nine questions surveyed, public university 1 responses fell outside the norm on question 14 regarding extracurricular programs, and all universities were in agreement for question 15. The results to question 14 make sense to this researcher since public university 1 was the only university not to have extracurricular activities like marching band due to the lack of a football program. Every other question resulted in not just split results but varying results. Some questions resulted in private schools in agreement while other questions gave similar results based on school size while other averaged means resulted in similar answers based on school location. No real trends regarding institutional attributes can be established from this survey based on weighted mean results.

The institutional proportions of note were once again quite varied. Public university 1 achieved one response with over 40% positive responses (question 16 regarding how the location of the university influenced their decision) while public

university 2 and private university 2 answered over 40% positive to five questions Public university 2 students responded to positively to questions 11, 12, 13, 16, and 17 while private university 2 students responded positively to question 10, 11, 12, 16, and 17. Private university 1 answered positively to two questions regarding institutional attributes. Three of the four universities, excluding private university 1, answered positively to question 16. Question 16 asked: to what extent did location of the university influence your decision to attend. This would hold true to previous studies in the literature review that state location is a large influence in school choice (Dixon & Martin, 1991; Drewes & Michael, 2006; Filter, 2010; Hodges, & Barbuto, 2002; Locke, 1982).

The single private school responding below 40% positive to this question happened to be located in a more rural area which would seem to correspond appropriately to this survey. Public university 2 and private university 2 students each answered highly on five questions. Out of those five questions, questions 11, 12, 16, and 17 were in agreement. Question 11 referred to the atmosphere of the campus, question 12 referred to the class size, and question 17 involved the setting of the university (e.g. rural/urban). Interestingly, both private university 2 and public university 2 are located in close proximity to each other so it would make sense that responses to questions 11 and 16 are similar for these two schools. The two differences occurred on question 13 for public university 2 and question 10 for private university 2. Public university 2 responded with 40% positive responses regarding the dorms and residence halls, while private university 2 responded with a 43% positive proportion regarding the appearance of the university they selected influenced their choice.

The two questions private university 1 responded with a high proportion are questions 10 and 11. However, both private universities responded with a high proportion to these two questions involving appearance and atmosphere of the university, which may suggest students interested in private school seek a specific appearance or are at least influenced more by the campus appearance than public school students as the follow up interview may suggest.

The follow up interview specifically asked what institutional factors influenced their decision. Due to the high proportion of private school students interviewed compared to public school students, these findings may only hold true to the private institutions but 10 students concur with the survey results and claim appearance and atmosphere are the number one institutional attributes students looked for in deciding on a school.

Financial

Financial attributes were surveyed in questions 19 and 20. For the question regarding costs and how it influenced choice, results were mixed. The public university students rated cost at an average of 4.35 substantiating the claim costs greatly influenced their choice. The private school responses rated cost equally at 3.7. Due to the average cost of the private school tuition at approximately \$26,500 (from the private universities surveyed) versus the average public school tuition at \$13,530 (from the public universities surveyed), the results are consistent.

Question 20 was equitable in weighted mean average regarding the influence of scholarship in the college decision. Every school viewed financial aid/scholarship with high regard as evident by this attribute receiving the highest weighted mean average for

all universities. These findings are consistent with previous research (Locke, 1982; Overmier, 2003) but vary when compared to Jackson and Chapman's (1984) research which stated financial aid is not the deciding factor in school choice. Based on the survey results, financial aid and scholarship may not be the only factor influencing choice but it is the single greatest factor to influence choice as reported by the students in this research.

The proportion of students responding over 40% positive to the financial aspects asked in the survey were also very high from most universities; however the survey results do allude to a slight variance in public versus private students. Three of the four university students surveyed indicated they regarded cost as important based on the proportion answering positively. Both public universities responded to question 19 with 57.6% from public university 1 and 80% from public university 2. Private university 1 was slightly lower with 45.5% saying cost of the university influenced their decision; however, private university 2 responded with just 26.7% saying cost was highly influential in their decision. Since the public school's tuition is considerably lower than the private school tuition, the findings seem to be consistent.

The slight variance in students occurs on question 20 regarding financial aid/scholarship and the influence on college choice. Public university 1 jumped from 57.6% regarding cost to 66.7% positive regarding scholarship while public university 2 jumped from 80% to 90%. The proportion of private university 1 students answered 45.5% but jumped to 72.7% when asked about financial aid/scholarship. Private university 2 encountered the highest difference going from 26.7% regarding cost to 66.7% regarding the influence of financial aid/scholarship. The data leads this researcher

to believe one of two positions regarding private university students, they either do not concern themselves with cost as much as students interested in public school, or they have a notion the sticker price of college is not the actual out of pocket cost they will incur as reported by St. John (1990), and Tierney (1982). This researcher believes the private school music majors surveyed for this study are aware of the scholarship opportunities based on the proportion of students listing scholarship as an influential factor in final choice. It is interesting to this researcher private university 2 students regarded the financial aid and scholarship with such prominence over the cost of the university.

In the interview, financial attributes were the most recorded attribute on the second question of the interview regarding how students narrow down their decision.

Out of the 18 financial responses given in the interview, 10 of those responses were given on question 2. The interview and survey results seem to be in agreement that finances tend to be a deciding factor for where students decide to attend school. No other question in the interview resulted in the number of financial attributes as question number 2.

Personal/Social

Personal/social attributes resulted in two schools falling outside the .2 threshold for weighted mean. Public university 1 achieved the highest score on question 21 with a 4.4. This score was .4 higher than the next closest score and a full 1.4 higher than the lowest score. These results, as irregular as they may be, make sense to this researcher considering the school. Question 21 asked to what extent did distance from home influence your decision to attend. Public university 1 was the most rural school surveyed, and although the school is located in a moderate sized town, very few universities

surrounding this location offer a music degree. Question 23 asked to what extent did parents and friends advice influence your decision and question 24 asked to what extent did having parents or friends at the university influence your decision.

Responses to these two questions averaged low but private university 1 was the lowest on question 23 with a 2.6 resulting in the only negative response for this question. In general terms parents tend to show influence in college choice but based on these results, the students attending private university 1 overall were not influenced by their parents and vary considerably compared to the other university students in this study and previous research (Galotti, 1995). The next highest score on question 23 was a 3.1 by public university 2, which demonstrates a sizeable gap of .5 between the two lowest averaging universities for this question.

Private university 1 was also the lowest score with a 1.7 on question 24.

Although every universities weighted mean was below 3.0, private university 1 was a full point lower than the next highest rating (private university 2). These findings differ from previous research. Filter (2010) reported parents help shape the college choice by extending advice on college aspirations and where their child should attend. This researcher found parents provide little influence, at least in the area of where they should attend. This researcher also believes, based on research and personal experience, the music major is a specific student and based on the influences guiding their choice, individuals other than parents may offer more guidance and possibilities of where they should attend due to an awareness often lacking from parents with little music background.

The proportion of students answering highly positive to questions 21, 23, and 24 are consistent. All four universities responded with at least a 40% positive proportion to question 21 stating distance from home did influence their decision to attend their school. The only discrepancy conveyed by private university 1, occurred on question 24 with 54.5% of the students saying having peers or friends attend the same school did not have any influence on their decision to attend which corresponds to the weighted mean scores from the four universities but differs slightly from Payne's (2010) research stating peers do influence decisions of young students.

This researcher's interview findings do seem to differ with the survey results and concur with Payne's (2010) research findings. Although many students listed peers and parents as having little influence, only four students responded to question 6 of the interview regarding personal/social factors by saying parents and peers did not have any influence on their choice. Eleven of the 19 students interviewed responded by saying a friend or family member influenced their college choice which differs from the survey results of this research. Perhaps students felt compelled to provide an answer to the interview question or the same students interviewed happened to respond positively to the survey questions regarding personal/social influences. Regardless, the interview results and survey results differ for this attribute.

Question 25 was the only survey question not based on one of the four factors viewed as important in the college choice by Galotti (1995). Because much of the research in the area of college choice was published prior to the age of social networking, the influence of social networking on the music major's choice of institution is severely lacking. The results of social networking and the influence regarding college choice as

reported by this researcher shows very few music majors view the social networking as an influence when making their college decision. The weighted mean resulted in an average of 1.4 when all universities are combined and every university answered with a high proportion that stated it did not bear much influence in their choice. Although many universities around the country incorporate social networking sites such as Facebook or Twitter (Barnes & Mattson, 2010), these types of media seemed to offer little guidance for students planning to major in music. Students interviewed for this research also failed to mention any type of social media as influential in the choice process. The music major population surveyed and interviewed for this research placed little importance in this topic and advised this researcher that time could be better spent in other areas recruiting and encouraging college choice.

The *z*-test for proportion in agreement for all attributes resulted in four questions which reject the null hypothesis and show a difference in agreement between public and private school students. Questions 7, 10, 11, and 19 in Table 10 provide the *z*-test scores and indicated the students attending the private universities are in much higher agreement on three out of the four questions (questions 7, 10, and 11) which show the private school student surveyed for this research value the policies, appearance, and atmosphere of the university to a greater degree than the public school students, while the public university students agreed more proportionately on the influence of cost on college choice (question 19).

This data supports the suggestion, while private university students may not specifically choose their school based on appearance and atmosphere alone, it definitely factors into the choice process more heavily than public university students. This data

also suggest public university students pay particularly close attention to the cost of college and consider this very high prior to any scholarship or financial aid intervention.

The data on Table 12 concerning research question 5 provided an overview of the amount of students and their GPA ranges. There is no statistical achievement level or GPA difference from those students choosing to enter private university compared to a public university. Generally, music majors have a higher GPA on average compared to the general student population (Shropshire, 2007). For this survey, 47.6% of the students claimed to have received between a 4.0-3.5 cumulative GPA in high school with 30.9% claiming to have obtained a 3.4-3.0 GPA. Overall, 78.5% of the music majors completing this survey had a 3.0 or higher high school cumulative GPA. Although official transcripts were not previewed, the researcher assumed this is a fairly accurate estimate from the surveyed students due to the multitude of times students must provide their GPA when applying for school and scholarship/grant applications.

Further Research

Throughout this study of college choice, certain data revealed issues requiring further scrutiny and research. Academic attributes have shown to be a big influence to music majors in the college choice but how they garner their opinion on which academic attributes are important or how students view schools as academically strong leaves room for further research. This research, as well as others (Locke, 1982; Overmier, 2003), shows music majors value the academic attributes and those attributes influence their college choice. Further research is needed to decipher how students and specifically music majors receive information in those areas viewed important to them in the college

choice, not just to influence choice based on fact but to determine the best method and time to reach those students.

If music majors value academic reputation fairly evenly across the researched institutions, did other attributes influence them to a greater degree than the academic attributes or did they happen to value one academic attribute enough to choose that university? For example, music majors listed faculty quality fairly high on their list of attributes influencing choice. If this is an attribute which draws them to seek information about a university, where do they garner their perception of faculty quality? Is it through word of mouth, visible performances, or meeting the faculty member in person? Further research in this vein would provide a foundation for college representatives to focus student marketing trends.

The students also viewed the admissions process as influencing the college choice of private university students but further research is needed to distinguish which attribute of the admission process is viewed as influential. Are private students influenced by the ease of the paper work involved, the process of the application, the counselor influence, or some other attribute of the admissions process unique to the private schools surveyed? Along with the admissions process, students surveyed for this research did not view social networking as an influential part of the college choice. Further research may need to be conducted to determine if the music major is unique in this regard or do many more students entering college prefer to use more traditional approaches compared to social media.

Data evaluated in this research similarly demonstrated cost was not a significant variable to private school students when compared to the scholarship. Research

discussing the possible means of how private school students accumulate information and process those different options affordable to them should be examined to provide universities a better understanding of how possible private university students approach and weight this decision. Included in this research should be the contrary aspect according to the public school student and his/her important placement of cost (according to this study) prior to scholarship.

The next recommendation includes the personal and social aspects of music majors and how those influence enrollment decisions. Many research studies have analyzed the personal/social effects on the general population and specifically the role of the parent with varying results (Chapman, 1981; Galotti, 1995; Litten, 1982), further research is needed, guided towards the parents of those students wishing to major in music. Parents seem to hold some influence on the college choice whether by means of saving for college, posing the idea of college, or by proposing specific colleges to attend, however the importance of the parent to the music major and the research on this topic is underwhelming.

This study surveyed music majors and found the role of the parent to be minimal in college choice, however, are music majors with musically inclined parents more likely to be influenced in the area of college choice? Further research in this area should focus on what percentage of music majors have parents with some musical background and do those parents offer specific options and guide their children majoring in music to a greater degree compared to music majors with non-musically inclined parents. A secondary component to this study would involve general student populations and how

parental knowledge in any specific area influences students with a desire to major in that area of expertise.

Table 16

Public vs. Private University z-test for Proportion Based on Size of Department

Question	Small public vs. private	Large public vs. private
1	-1.4148	1.55353
2	1.3316	0.69354
3	-4.1613*	-0.8045
4	-0.8323	-1.8864
5	-0.6658	-0.7057
6	0.24968	1.71998
7	0.83225	3.41223*
8	0.6658	-0.3884
9	1.83095	0.61032
10	3.91158*	3.41223*
11	1.24838	2.88514*
12	-0.5826	2.49849*
13	-5.4929*	2.46901*
14	0.3329	1.91418
15	1.16515	0.27742
16	1.24838	1.22063
17	-2.0806*	1.94192
18	-0.4161	1.6645
19	-2.3303*	-2.0251*
20	0.08323	0.74903
21	-1.3316	-1.0264
23	-1.1652	0.13871
24	-2.8297*	0.2098
25	0	-0.2479

Note: z-critical = 1.96. * Reject the null.

The last recommendation is to conduct a similar study based on the size of the undergraduate student body, or perhaps the size of the music departments, rather than private or public school affiliation. For this study, each public school had a corresponding private school of similar size. Since the data was available and previously entered into a spreadsheet, the researcher organized the data based on the number of

music majors attending each university and found unique trends which support and reject the previously stated null hypothesis from this research.

The null hypothesis was: There will be no difference in proportion of participants in agreement with statements concerning the importance of factors regarding choice of college, when comparing responses for each individual question on the administered survey between public school choice and private school choice. Table 16 provides the z-test for proportion based on size of the music major enrollment at each university. The smaller private and public school data is combined as well as the larger private and public school data and reported in Table 16.

When the data is organized by size rather than public or private affiliation 12 results reject the null hypothesis and show a difference in proportion of agreement compared to the four results which rejected the null hypothesis when the data is displayed individually and by affiliation. This data leads the researcher to believe institutional attributes play a key role in college choice which may be difficult for the student to put into words or even realize they are being influenced. School size, regardless of any other attributes, seems to have some bearing on student perceptions and how this influences college choice is an area with room for growth.

Summary

Music majors fall into a unique category of student and are therefore highly recruited individuals. They are typically high achievers in school and offer a unique skill set many universities and schools of music seek out (Shropshire, 2007). Strategies to recruit and understand the college choice process from this subset population need to be cultivated to encourage their enrollment and future music performers, educators, and

business majors. This research determined significant factors from each of the four main attributes influencing college enrollment pertaining to the music major as well as other attributes critical to college choice based on research by Locke (1982).

Academic influences for both individual schools and grouped institutions based on private and public affiliation have an impact on the college choice of music majors. The music major tends to value the quality of the music faculty as the highest rated academic influence on choice according to the survey. Institutional attributes have a positive effect on the college choice of music majors and the factor most influencing choice was the location of the university followed closely by class size. The financial attributes influencing choice are all rated very high by music majors, however the highest rated factor influencing choice across all areas was the scholarship. The offer of a scholarship received the highest number of positive responses overall on the survey from all universities.

The personal/social factors influencing choice were viewed low by many of the universities. This research indicates, when individually analyzed by school, social factors tended to have a slightly positive response to college choice. When combined by school affiliation however, the influence does not seem to weigh heavily in the college choice of music majors. In fact, based on this research, personal/social factors were rated the lowest of the four attributes influencing choice. The only attribute which scored below the personal/social attributes was the use of social networking between music majors and college choice. The music majors surveyed for this study did not rely on social networking to determine their college. This aspect on the survey received a low proportion of positive responses and mean score. In the interview, the use of social

media was not mentioned as an influence at any point in the college choice of music majors.

The achievement level of the music major also bore little influence in their college choice. No statistical difference was determined that would assert private school music majors have a higher GPA than do public school students and vice versa. As reported by others (Shropshire, 2007; Schneider & Klotz, 2000), music majors in general tend to have a higher than average GPA.

The factors influencing choice based on gender do seem to be evident. Although females rated their responses higher than their male peers, the averages were rather even from one attribute to the next with the exception of financial attributes. Females rated cost and scholarship statistically more significant than male students. Finally, the factors influencing the college choice seem to be more prominent when based on size rather than public or private affiliation. Very few differences (n=4) were statistically significant compared to the differences based on size of the department (n=12).

The overall arching theme in the interview is answered by the first two questions. What attracted you to the school and how did you narrow down your decision to attend? A basic understanding of these two concepts can aid in the recruitment and understanding of how music majors are influenced by key attributes. Understanding what music majors seek in these two areas may help steer advisors and recruiters to possible talking points which are of interest to many music majors.

For this study, the music majors interviewed answered similarly to the survey and stressed importance in the area of faculty and reputation of the department leading them to seek more information about the school with the offer of a scholarship being the

biggest single factor influencing final enrollment. For the students participating in the interview, private or public school affiliation did not play a major role in college choice. Many private school students reported looking into other universities with little importance on a private or religious affiliation. Public school students which responded they would go to another public school did so for academic reasons. No significant number of students reported specific school affiliation was a significant factor in their final choice.

References

- Admissions Advisory Committee. (2011). The Campus Visit Experience: Improving Student Recruitment at the University of Rhode Island. *Online Submission*, Retrieved from EBSCO*host*
- Aldridge, S. C. (2010). Strategy Matters More Than Budget in Student Recruiting.

 Chronicle of Higher Education, 57(11), B50-B51. Retrieved from EBSCOhost.
- Ali, S., & Saunders, J. L. (2006). College Expectations of Rural Appalachian Youth: An Exploration of Social Cognitive Career Theory Factors. *Career Development Quarterly*, 55(1), 38-51.
- Argabright, R. (2005). Connecting with music. General Music Today, 18(2), 12-14.
- Astin, A. (1965). Who Goes Where to College? Chicago, IL: Science Research Associates.
- Astin, A. W. (1984). The American Freshman: National Norms for fall 1984. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Barnes, N. G., & Mattson, E. (2010). Social Media and College Admissions: Higher-Ed Beats Business in Adoption of New Tools for Third Year. Retrieved from http://www.neacac.org/docs/uploads/files/amc2010/2010%20AMC%20Web%20 Social%20Media%20and%20College%20Admissions%20The%20First%20Longi tudinal%20Study.pdf
- Beckett, T. R. (2009). Teacher Recruitment and retention in a hard-to-staff, at-risk, rural school district in Southeast South Carolina that serves high populations of children of poverty. *PROQUEST LLC*, AAT 3368763.

- Bergerson, A. A. (2010). College Choice and Access to College: Moving Policy,

 Research and Practice to the 21st Century: ASHE Higher Education Report, *35*(4).
- Blakemore, A., & Low, S. (1983). Race and the Acquisition of and Returns to OJT for Youth. Industrial Relations, 22(3), 374-386. Retrieved from Business Source Premier Database.
- Bluman, A. (2009). Elementary Statistics: A Step by Step Approach. A Brief Version, 5th edition.
- Bower, B. (2004). Tuning up young minds. Science News, 165(25).
- Braddock, J., Sokol-Katz, J., Dawkins, M. P., & Lv, H. (2006). College Choice: Is it

 Influenced by Strong Athletic Programs? Conference Papers -- American

 Sociological Association, 1. Retrieved from EBSCOhost
- Cabrera, A., & La Nasa, S. (2000). *Understanding the College-Choice Process*. New Directions for Institutional Research, (107), 5. Retrieved from Academic Search Elite database.
- Carnegie Council for Policy Studies. (1980). *Three Thousand Futures: The Next Twenty years in Higher Education*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Chapman, D.W. (1981). A Model of Student College Choice. *Journal of Higher Education*, 52(2), 490-505.
- Chapman, R., & Jackson, R. (1987). College Choices of Academically Able Students:

 The Influence of No-Need Financial Aid and Other Factors. Research Monograph

 No. 10. Retrieved from ERIC database.

- Churchill, B. (2004). Want to boost math scores? Require students to take band. *Curriculum Review*, 43(7), 9.
- College. (n.d.). Dictionary.com Unabridged. Retrieved April 25, 2011, from

 Dictionary.com website: http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/college
- Conklin, M., & Dailey, A. (1981). Does Consistency of Parental Educational

 Encouragement Matter for Secondary School Students? *Sociology of Education*,

 54(4), 254-262. Retrieved from Academic Search Premier Database.
- Dehne, G. C. (1994). *Marketing Higher Education: A Handbook for College***Administrators. Washington, D.C.: Consortium for the Advancement of Private Higher Education.
- Dixon, P., & Martin, N. (1991). Measuring Factors That Influence College Choice.

 NASPA Journal, 29(1), 31-36. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Douglas, P., & Powers, S., (1983). Factors in the Choice of Higher Educational

 Institutions by Academically Gifted Seniors. *Journal of College Student*Personnel, 24(6), 540-44. Retrieved from EBSCOhost.
- Drewes, T., & Michael, C. (2006). How do students choose a university? An analysis of applications to universities in Ontario, Canada. *Research in Higher Education*, 47(7), 781-800. doi:10.1007/s11162-006-9015-6
- Ellison, N. B., Steinfield, C., & Lampe, C. (2007). The Benefits of Facebook "Friends:"

 Social Capitol and College Students' Use of Online Social Network Sites. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communications*. 12(4), article 1.

 http://jcmc.indiana.edu/vol12/issue4/ellison.html

- Fetters, W. (1977). Fulfillment of Short-Term Educational Plans and Continuance in Education. National Longitudinal Study of High School Seniors. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Filter, S. (2010, January 1). The Choice-of-College Decision of Academically Talented Students. ProQuest LLC
- Flint, T. (1992). Parental and Planning Influences on the Formation of Student College Choice Sets. *Research in Higher Education*, *33*(6), 689-708. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Freeman, H. B. (1984). The impact of "no-need" scholarships on the matriculation decision of academically talented students. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Association of Higher Education, Chicago, IL.
- Galotti, K. (1995). A Longitudinal Study of Real-Life Decision Making: Choosing a College. *Applied Cognitive Psychology*, 9(6), 459-484. Retrieved from *Academic Search Premier Database*.
- Galotti, K. M., & Mark, M. C. (1994). How do high school students structure an important life decision? A short-term longitudinal... *Research in Higher Education*, *35*(5), 589. Retrieved from EBSCOhost.
- Gilmour, J. E., Spiro, L. M., & Dolich, I. J. (1981). *How high school students select a college*. University Park, PN: Pennsylvania State University.
- Hanson, K.H., & Litten, L.H., (1982). "Mapping the Road to Academe." In The

 Undergraduate Woman: Issues in Educational Equity. Lexington, MA: D.C.

 Heath and Company.

- Harris, D. (2001). Teacher Salaries Don't Make the Grade. Retrieved Oct. 13, 2011 from http://www.epi.org/publication/webfeatures_snapshots_archive_12052001/.
- Hirshman, E. C., & Thompson, C. J. (1997). Why media Matters? A Richer Understanding of Consumer's Relationships' with Advertising and Mass Media. *Journal of Advertising*, 26(3), 43-60.
- Hodges, T., & Barbuto, J. (2002). Recruiting Urban and Rural Students: Factors
 Influencing the Postsecondary Education Institution Choices of Rural versus
 Urban High School Students. *College and University*, 77(3), 3-10. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Holmes, L. (1994, May 1). Recruitment of Traditional Students by Two-Year Colleges.

 Retrieved from EBSCO*host*.
- Hossler, D. (1984). Enrollment Management: An Integrated Approach. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Hossler, D., & Gallagher, K. (1987). Studying Student College Choice: A Three-Phase Model and the Implications for Policymakers. *College and University*, 62(3), 207-221. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Hossler, D., Braxton, J., & Coopersmith, G. (1989). Understanding Student College Choice. In John C. Smart (ed.) *Higher Education: Handbook of Theory and Research*. ERIC, EBSCOhost (accessed October 5, 2010).
- Hossler, D., & Stage, F. K. (1992). Family and high school experience influences on the Postsecondary educational plans of ninth-grade students. *American Educational Research Journal*, 29(2), 425-451.

- Hossler, D., & Vesper, N. (1993). "An exploratory Study of the Factors Associated with Parental Saving for Postsecondary Education." *Journal of Higher Education*, 64(2), 140-165.
- Hossler, D., Schmit, J., & Vesper, N. (1999). Going to College. How Social, Economic, and Educational Factors Influence the Decisions Students Make. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Ihlanfeldt, W. (1980). Achieving Optimal Enrollments and Tuition Revenues. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Jackson, G. (1978). Financial aid and student enrollment. *Journal of Higher Education*, 49, 548-574.
- Jackson, G. (1982). Public Efficiency and Private Choice in Higher Education.
 Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 4(2), 237-47. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Jackson, R. & Chapman, R. (1984). The influence of no-need aid and other factors on college choices of high ability students. Paper presented at the College Board Annual Forum.
- Kaczynski, K. M. (2011). Exploring the influence of siblings and their relationships on the college choice process. (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from PQDTopen. (3449126)
- Kappler, S. D. (1998, Nov.). Changing Perspectives: A Side-by-Side Examination of the Differences Between How High School Juniors and Seniors Choose College.Paper presented at the Annual American Marketing Association Meeting on Marketing in Higher Education, San Antonio, TX.

- Kealy, M., & Rockel, M. (1987). Student Perceptions of College Quality: The Influence of College Recruitment Policies. *Journal of Higher Education*, 58(6), 683-703.Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Kelly, S. (1988). Marketing Your College Music Program to Students. *Music Educators Journal*, 75(3), 27-29. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Kotler, P., & Fox, K. (1985). Strategic Marketing for Educational Institutions. *Marketing News*, 19(15), 30. Retrieved from Business Source Premier database.
- Kuras, J. (1997). College recruitment that counts. Fund Raising Management, 28(7) 22-24
- Levin, J., & Fox, J. (2007) Elementary Statistics in Social Research: New York, New York: Pearson.
- Lindeman, C. A. (2004). Ten Strategies for Higher Education and the K-12 Music Teacher Shortage. *Music Educators Journal*, 90(3), 66. Retrieved from EBSCOhost.
- Lipkin, R. (2004). A Well Tempered Mind: Using Music to Help Children Listen and Learn. *Scientific American Mind*, *14*(5), 97.
- Litten, L. (1982). Different Strokes in the Applicant Pool: Some Refinements in a Model of Student College Choice. *Journal of Higher Education*, *53*(4), 383-402. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Litten, L. (1991). *Ivy Bound: High Ability Students and College Choice*. New York, NY: College Board.

- Litten, L., & Brodigan, D. (1982). On Being Heard in a Noisy World: Matching
 Messages and Media in College Marketing. *College and University*, 57(3), 242-64. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Litten, L., Sullivan, D., & Brodigan, D. (1984). Applying Market Research in College Admissions. *Marketing News*, 18(8), 20. Retrieved from Business Source Premier database.
- Locke, J. (1982). Influences on the College Choice of Freshman Music Majors in Illinois. (Ph. D. diss., University of Illinois.)
- Longley, L. (1999). Gaining the arts advantage: Lessons from school districts that value arts education. Washington, D.C.: President's Committee on the Arts and the Humanities and the arts education partnership.
- Ludeman, V. L. (1964). Contributing Factors in the Selection of College or University by Freshman Music majors. (Ph. D. diss., Colorado State University.)
- Lynch, M., Engle, J., & Cruz, J. L., (2011). Priced out: How the Wrong Financial-Aid Policies Hurt Low-Income Students. *Education Trust*, Retrieved from EBSCOhost.
- Maguire, J., & Lay, R. (1980). Modeling the College Choice Process: Image and Decision. *College and University*, 56(2).
- Mayher, B. (1998). The college admissions mystique. New York, NY: Noonday Press.
- McGiboney, M., (2009). Twitters Tweet Smell of Success. Retrieved March 21, 2011 from http://blog.nielsen.com/nielsenwire/online_mobile/twitters-tweet-smell-of-success/#
- Moll, R. (1994). Playing the selective college admissions game. New York, NY:

- Penguin Group.
- Murphy, P. E. (1981). Consumer Buying Roles in the College Choice: Parents' and Students' perceptions. *College and University*, *57*, 150-160
- Olson, L., & Rosenfeld, R. A. (1984). Parents and the Process of Gaining Access to Student Financial Aid. *Journal of Higher Education*, 55(4), 455-480.
- Overmier, R. D. (2003). Recognizing the Choices of Freshman Music Majors. Paper presented at the Hawaii International Conference on Arts and Humanities, Honolulu, HI.
- Papp, R. (2009). Virtual Worlds and Social networking: Reaching the Millennials.

 **Journal of Technology Research*. Retrieved from http://www.aabri.com/

 manuscripts/10427.pdf
- Parry, M. (2009). Second Life Duty is Now Required for Penn State's Online Advisers, *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, November 9, 2009.
- Paulsen, M., (1990). College Choice: Understanding Student Enrollment Behavior.

 ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Report No. 6. Retrieved from ERIC database
- Payne, R. B., (2010). A study of the Relationship between Parental Involvement and Mental Health of College Students. *ProQuest LLC*
- Peters, W. B. (1977). Fulfillment of short-term educational plans and continuance in education. National longitudinal study of high school seniors. Washington, D.C.:

 National Center for Educational Statistics.
- Schneider, T., & Klotz, J. (2000, November 13). The impact of music education and athletic participation on academic achievement. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Mid-south Educational Research Association, Bowling Green, KY.

- Shropshire, W. B. (2007). Differences in Student Academic Achievement Between students who participate in music programs and students who participate in athletic programs. (P. H. Dissertation, AAT 3291461)
- St. John, E. (1990). Price Response in Enrollment Decisions: An Analysis of High School and beyond Sophomore Cohort. *Research in Higher Education*, *31*(2), 161-76.

 Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Stevenson, S. (2011). College Choice Process and Perspectives of Students Who Chose to Attend a Military Junior College: Voice from Students and Parents. ProQuest LLC
- Teirney, W.G. (2002). Parents and Families in Precollege Preparation: The Lack of Connection Between Research and Practice. *Educational Policy*, *16*(4), 588. Retrieved from EBSCOhost.
- Tierney, M. (1979). The Impact of Financial Aid on Public/Private Postsecondary

 Education: Some Policy Implications. ASHE Annual Meeting 1979 Paper.

 Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Tierney, M. (1982). The Impact of Institutional Net Price on Student Demand for Public and Private Higher Education. *Economics of Education Review*, 2(4), 363-83.

 Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Tillery, D. (1973). Distribution and differentiation of youth: A study of transition from school to college. Cambridge, MA: Ballinger Publishing Company.
- Toma, J., & Cross, M. E. (1998). Intercollegiate athletics and student college choice:

 Exploring the Impact of Championship Seasons on Undergraduate Applications.

 Research in Higher Education, 39(6), 633-661. Retrieved from EBSCOhost.

- Tower, J. (2007). Building an E-Recruitment Network. Retrieved from http://www.bluehueeducation.com/pdfs/building_an_e_recruitment_network.pdf
- Turner, M.E. (2004). A Descriptive Analysis of the Images Observed on Music Department Websites. *Journal of Music Teacher Education*, 13(2), 41-48.
- Waggoner, W. (1978). The Recruitment of College Musicians. College Music Symposium, 18.
- Zemsky, R., & Oedel, P. (1983). The Structure of College Choice. Retrieved from ERIC database.
- Universities and colleges. (n.d.). The top 100 Colleges on Twitter. Retrieved on March 21, 2011

Appendix A: Survey

Factors Influencing College Choice:

Did not influence my decision to attend

1 2 3 4 5

Please rate how each question influenced your college choice by circling the appropriate number.

2	M	[inimal]	ly influ	enced m	y decis	ion to attend			
3	S	Somewhat influenced my decision to attend							
4	M	Moderately influenced my decision to attend							
5	Н	Highly influenced my decision to attend							
	1.		at exten		e acade	mic challenge of the university influence your			
		1	2	3	4	5			
	2.		at extended at the control of the co		e admis	ssions requirements of the university influence your 5			
	3.			nt did the to attended 3		e offerings/curriculum of the university influence 5			
	4.		at exten		e qualit	y of the music faculty at the university influence your			
		1	2	3	4	5			
	5.		at exten		e music	e degrees offered at the university influence your			
		1	2	3	4	5			
	6.	To wh		nt did th	e reputa	ation of the university influence your decision to			

7.	To what extent did the school policies of the university influence your decision to attend?						
	1	2	3	4	5		
8.	To what extent did the success of previous graduates at the university influence your decision to attend?						
	1	2	3		5		
9.		at exten		ne type o	of university (e.g. public vs. private) influence your		
	1	2	3	4	5		
10.	To whattend:		it did th	ne appea	rance of the university influence your decision to		
	1	2	3	4	5		
11.				_	us atmosphere influence your decision to attend?		
	1	2	3	4	5		
12.	influer	ice you	r decisi	on to att			
	1	2	3	4	5		
13.		at exten		ne dorms	s/residence halls at the university influence your		
		2		4	5		
14.	4. To what extent did the extracurricular programs at the university influence your decision to attend?						
	1	2		4	5		
15.	To whatend:		it did th	ne facilit	ies at the university influence your decision to		
	1	2	3	4	5		
16.	To whattend:		it did th	ne locatio	on of the university influence your decision to		
	1	2	3	4	5		
17.		at exten		ne setting	g (e.g. rural/urban) of the university influence your		
	1	2	3	4	5		
18.	To who	at exten	nt did th	ne size o 4	f the university influence your decision to attend? 5		

19. To 1	what extend	nt did th	e cost o	of the university influence your decision to attend? 5
de	what extendision to at 2	tend?		aid/scholarships from the university influence your
1	2	3	4	3
	what extendend?	nt did th	e unive	ersities distance from home influence your decision to
1	2	3	4	5
23. To	what exter			or friends' advice influence your decision to attend?
	what extensision to at		aving pe	eers or friends at the university influence your
1	2	3	4	5
25. Wa	as social ne	etworkir	ng (e.g.	facebook, twitter. etc.) a factor in your college
choice	, and if so,	to what	extent	did social networking from the university/faculty
influer	nce your de	ecision t	o attend	d. (if social networking was not a factor, please circle
1) 1	2	3	4	5
 26. When looking at universities, how far from home were you willing to travel? (please circle the appropriate response) a. 1-30 miles(within daily driving distance) b. 31-60 miles (app. 1hour) c. 61-120 miles (app. 2hours) d. 121-180 miles (app.3hours) e. 181-240 miles (app. 4hours) f. Any distance 27. How many different universities did you visit prior to making your final choice? (please circle the appropriate response) a. 1-2 				
	b. 3-4c. 5-6d. 7-8	than eig	tht diffe	erent universities

28. My approximate cumulative high school GPA: (Please circle the appropriate response)
4.0-3.5
3.4-3.0
2.9-2.5
2.4-2.0
Below 2.0
29. My gender: (please circle the appropriate response Male Female

30. Are there any factors that highly influenced your college choice that were not mentioned above? (Please list or describe these influences)

Appendix B: Information Letter

Dear Music Major,

I am inviting you to participate in a research project to study college choice conducted by Ryan Curtis. The purpose of this research is to investigate and compare the factors that influence your decision to attend a specific university. Along with this letter is a short survey regarding factors leading to college choice. Please review the survey and, if you choose to do so, complete it and place it in the envelope at the front of the room. It should take you approximately fifteen minutes to complete. This study will use approximately 260 music majors from six universities.

The results of this project will be included in my dissertation. Through your participation I hope to gain a better understanding of college choice factors leading to the enrollment of music majors at private and public universities. The results of the survey will be useful in the search, recruitment and enrollment of music majors at all universities and I will share my results with all faculty/music majors attending the researched universities.

There are no risks to you if you decide to participate in this survey and your responses will be kept anonymous and confidential. Your identity will not be disclosed in any publication of this study. There is no penalty if you choose not to participate and no names are required on the questionnaire. I hope you will take the time to complete this survey and place it in the envelope.

If you have any questions or concerns regarding this study, or if any problems arise, you may call the Investigator, Ryan Curtis at 949-4664 or the Supervising Faculty, Dr. Lynda Leavitt at 949-4756. You may also ask questions of or state concerns regarding your participation to the Lindenwood Institutional Review Board (IRB) through contacting Dr. Jann Weitzel, Vice President for Academic Affairs at 636-949-4846.

Thanks you in advance for your participation,

Appendix C: Interview Questions

1.	What initially attracted you to consider (attending institution) as a possible college you might want to attend?
2.	What was the deciding factor that caused you to enroll at (attending institution)?
3.	Were there any factors that deterred you from attending a specific institution? if so, what were they.
4.	If you didn't attend(attending institution) where do you think you might have gone and why?
5.	What could your alternative choices have done differently to persuade your college selection?

Vitae

Ryan Curtis was born in St. Louis, Missouri on October 24, 1977. He attended Francis Howell High School in St. Charles, Missouri where he graduated in 1996. Following high school, he attended Missouri State University in Springfield, Missouri where he graduated in 2001 with a bachelor's of science in education. Mr. Curtis taught middle and high school music in the Missouri public schools upon graduation. While teaching, he attended the University of Missouri, St. Louis and earned a Master's Degree in Music Education, in 2007. After completing his master's degree, he taught on the faculty of Fine and Performing Arts at Lindenwood University as an Assistant Professor of Music responsible for the concert band, athletic band, and music technology programs. Mr. Curtis lives in St. Charles, Missouri with his wife Kim, and two children, Brendan and Kailyn, and is expecting to complete his doctorate in educational leadership from Lindenwood University in May of 2012.